
 
 

Point-in-Time Count (PIT) Committee 
Monday, April 22, 2019 | 9:30 AM – 11:30 AM 

1331 Garden Highway, Suite 100, CA 95833 – NIC Main (First Floor) 
 

Meeting Purpose: To review the volunteer coordination activities associated with the 2019 PIT Count 
in preparation for consideration of recommendations for future PIT Counts and future PIT Count 
Committees. 

      I.  Welcome and Introductions 

II. March 25, 2019 Meeting Minutes Co-Chair(s) 
  

9:30 AM 
(5 minutes) 

Action 

III. Committee Work Plan Approval Co-Chair(s) 9:35 AM 
(10 minutes) 

Action 

IV. PIT Report- Opportunity for Input 

 Report Design Questions 
(Structure, Format, and 
Content Emphasis) 

Presenter(s): Arturo 
Baiocchi, PhD, 
CSUS ISR 

9:45 AM 
(30 minutes) 

Discussion 

V.  Volunteer Coordination Debrief 

 Volunteer Participation 
Summary 

 Volunteer Training Curriculum 

 Volunteer Survey Responses 
 

Presenter(s): 
Michele Watts, SSF 
Chief Programs 
Office & Nick Lee, 
SSF Chief 
Operating Officer 

10:15 AM 
(60 minutes) 

Discussion 

VI. Volunteer Coordination Next Steps 

 Summary of Follow Ups for 
May Meeting 

Presenter(s): Co-
Chair(s) & SSF Staff 

11:15 AM 
(15 minutes) 

Discussion 

       VIII. Meeting Adjourned 



 
 

Point-in-Time (PIT) Count Committee of the 
Sacramento CoC Advisory Board 

 
Meeting Minutes 

Monday, March 25, 2019 
1331 Garden Highway, Suite 100, Sacramento, CA 95833, NIC Main Meeting Room 

 
Attendance: 

Member Organization Present 

David Heitsman Sacramento LGBT Center Yes 

Jesse Archer Sacramento LGBT Center Yes 

Bridget Alexander Waking the Village No 

Benjamin Uhlenhop Next Move Yes 

Jeff Tardaguila Community Member Yes 

Stefan Heisler City of Rancho Cordova Yes 

Noel Kammermann Loaves & Fishes Yes 

Julie Pederson Sacramento Sheriff’s Department No 

Daniel Monk Sacramento City Police Department Yes 

 
 

Guests & Staff Organization 

Kate Casarino SSF Contracts & CoC Coordinator 

Nick Lee SSF COO 

Michele Watts SSF CPO 

Chris Weare SSF Data Analytics & Research Manager 

 
 
Meeting Purpose:  
To review a draft work plan for the committee to complete its work debriefing the 2019 PIT and 
developing recommendations for future PIT Counts and future PIT Committees. 



 

 

2 
 

 
 

      I.  Welcome and Introductions 

 Co-Chair Noel Kammermann called the meeting to order at 9:33 AM. 

II. February 25, 2019 Meeting Minutes 
 

Presenter(s): Noel Kammermann, 
Co-Chair 

Action 

M/S Daniel Monk/Stefan Heisler to approve the Februrary Minutes as written.  Approved. 

III. Review Draft Work Plan 
 

Presenter(s): Michele Watts, Chief 
Programs Officer 

Discussion 

The Co-Chairs (Jesse, Noel, and Jeff) met with staff (Kate, Nick, and Michele) on March 20, 2019 
to develop a work plan based on the purpose of the committee and the members’ input at the 
February meeting.  The work plan is organized by the first two of the three main areas of PIT work 
reviewed at that meeting: (1) research design- methodology and reporting and (2) volunteer 
coordination; area (3), deployment logistics, was omitted from the work plan because members did 
not have any input on this area specifically and because relevant aspects of deployment will be 
captured in the research design and volunteer coordination areas of work.  The work plan also 
includes a third section on final PIT reports covering 2019 and future reports.  The PIT Committee 
work plan includes a timeline and deliverables, as well as a status section which will be updated 
monthly. 
 
Michele presented the draft work plan to members.  Members agreed to the approach but asked 
that key questions raised at the last meeting be added to the document.  Michele will make these 
revisions and share with the committee for further review.  The work plan will be presented for final 
approval at the April meeting. 

IV.  Discuss Volunteer Coordination 
Information Needs for April Meeting 

Presenter(s): Michele Watts Discussion 

Members and staff listed information that it would be useful to have for the discussion of volunteer 
coordination at the April meeting: 

 Staff summary of the 2019 volunteer coordination component of the PIT, including strengths, 
lessons learned, and initial recommendations for future PIT Counts and Committees 

 Volunteer Training Curriculum 

 Volunteer Survey 
Members will received quite a bit of information at the April meeting.  Materials will be provided the 
week prior to the meeting for review in advance.  Input and recommendations based on the 
information shared in April will be developed at the May meeting. 

       VIII. Meeting Adjourned 

Co-Chair Noel Kammermann adjourned the meeting at 10:10 AM. 



Component/Activities Timeline Status

Debrief targeted activities to count TAY and develop recommendations for the next PIT. Also develop 

recommendations for applying TAY approach to counting families with children. June-July

PIT Survey: Review 2019 survey and develop a community process for adding non-HUD-mandated 

questions for the next PIT. June-July

Mapping: Debrief the 2019 mapping process, including a review of outreach efforts and participating 

agencies to develop recommendations the next PIT. June-July

Should the Sacramento CoC conduct a full PIT that includes an unsheltered count annually? June-July

Can we use drones to do any part of the unsheltered count (pre-deployment mapping and/or actual 

counting the nights of)? June-July

Debrief the 2019 volunteer recruitment efforts and results and develop recommendations for the next PIT. April-May

Review the 2019 volunteer training curriculum and develop recommendations for the next PIT. April- May

Review the volunteer survey results and develop recommendations for the next PIT. April-May

How can we be strategic in the use of this volunteer opportunity to raise awareness of homelessness in our 

community?  What are our local goals in terms of raising awareness? April- May

CSUS ISR will present questions about the 2019 PIT Report structure, format, and content emphasis to the 

committee for input. April

Member input for future PIT Reports July - August

What does HUD do with PIT data? What about the State of California? Is there a relationship between PIT 

results and funding? TBD

Key Report Questions & Considerations

Product/Deliverable: Recommendations related to future PIT Reports

Product/Deliverable: Input to CSUS ISR research team related to the 2019 PIT Report

Product/Deliverable:Recommendations on future PIT processes related to volunteer coordination.

2019 PIT Committee Work Plan- for Approval 4/22/19

Research Design - Methodology & Reporting

Volunteer Coordination

Final PIT Report

Product/Deliverable: Recommendations on future PIT processes related to reseach design.

incorporating member feedback at 3/25/19 meeting

Key Research Design Questions & Considerations:

Key Volunteer Coordination Questions & Considerations



 
 
 
TO:  PIT Committee Members 
 
FROM: Michele Watts, SSF Chief Programs Officer 
 
CC:  SSF Executive Team, Sacramento PIT Lead Researcher Arturo Baiocchi,  
  PhD, Assistant Professor, CSUS 
 
DATE:  April 22, 2019 
 
RE:  Input on 2019 PIT Report Design – Discussion Item 
 

As you know, the research team at the Institute for Social Research (ISR) at CSUS is 
currently analyzing data and preparing a report on the Sacramento CoC’s 2019 
unsheltered homeless Point-In-Time (PIT) count.  While the content of the report is 
largely driven by underlying HUD data collection requirements, as well as past reports in 
the interest of making comparisons over time, there are some design choices to be 
made.  ISR would like the committee’s input on three such questions: 
 
1. How much discussion of methods should be included in the body of the 
report? 
 
In the 2017 report, we attempted to be as transparent as possible with the methods 
deployed and included a pretty substantive discussion of methods and general process 
in the second section of the report.  Some community feedback we have received 
indicated that many people appreciated the transparency of the report.  However, others 
also indicated that they preferred much of this discussion to be truncated or be included 
mainly in the appendix. We're not sure which way would be best for the 2019 PIT. 
 
2. Would it make more sense to organize sections of the report by specific 
HUD sub-populations (TAY, chronic homeless) or have an "intersectional 
organization" where we discuss broader patterns that intersect across 
these populations (e.g., a lens on race/ethnicity, a lens on sexual orientation)?  
 
In the 2017 report, the third section was organized by sub-populations of interest to 
HUD.  For each sub-population, we discussed the unique demographic characteristics 
of the group (how older males were over-represented in the chronically homeless group, 
or how people of color were overrepresented in the unsheltered population compared to 
the broader county).  An alternative approach is to have sections organized by these 
intersecting demographics; such as a section discussing ethnicity/sexual orientation.   



 

2 
 

 
3 Relatedly, which specific groups/intersecting demographics are of most interest 
to the community?  Also, what's more important: breadth or depth? 
 
If we do a focus on specific sub-populations or intersections, we have to be mindful of 
our limited bandwidth.  We could reasonably provide a deep focus on approximately 
three sub-populations/intersecting demographics.  Or, we could be broader in our focus 
and report brief analyses of approximately six sub-populations.  Key considerations 
include which sub-populations or intersecting demographic themes are of most 
importance and how many do we want to cover. 
 
Dr. Baiocchi will lead a discussion of these questions at the April 22, 2019 committee 
meeting.  The 2017 PIT Report is included in the meeting packet to assist members in 
preparing for this discussion. 
 
 



1	  
	  
	  

Institute for Social Research |Division of Social Work-College of Health & Human Services 

 California State University, Sacramento 

6000 J Street | Sacramento, CA 95819-6101 | (916) 278-5737 

	  	  	  	  	  	    

Homelessness  in  Sacramento County:  

Results  from the 2017 Point - in-Time Count  

 
A report prepared by  

California State University, Sacramento 

For 

Sacramento Steps Forward 

	  

	  

	  

	  

	  



	  
	  

2 

Arturo Baiocchi PhD, Assistant Professor 

Jennifer Price-Wolf PhD, Assistant Professor 

Division of Social Work-CSUS 

 

Acknowledgements  

As with any complex and multifaceted research effort, this study’s success is due to the combined efforts 

of several individuals across organizations. The CSUS research team would like to thank all of those who 

made data collection and interpretation possible for the 2017 Point-in-Time count for Sacramento 

County. 

o Navigators and Outreach team of Sacramento Steps Forward 

o Sacramento Housing & Redevelopment Agency  

o County of Sacramento 

o City of Sacramento 

o City of Citrus Heights 

o City of Isleton 

o City of Folsom 

o City District Councilmembers and their Chiefs of Staff 

o Del Paso Blvd. Partnership 

o Power Inn Alliance 

o Mack Road Partnership 

o Downtown Sacramento Partnership 

o Sacramento Police Department 

o Sacramento County Sherriff’s Department 

o Galt Police Department 

o Citrus Heights Police Department 

o Elk Grove Police Department 

o Folsom Police Department 

o Rancho Cordova Police Department 

o College of Health and Human Services-CSUS 

o College of Social Science and Interdisciplinary Studies-CSUS 

 

We would like to also give a special thanks to the approximate 360 community volunteers who took the 

time to engage with individuals in our community experiencing homelessness.  Lastly, we thank the 28 

volunteer students at CSUS who donated their time to the project by inputting thousands of data forms 

and pieces of information into a database; we cite these students as formal contributors to this report in 

the Appendix. 

Authors  

 

	    

Keith Hodson, Research Analyst 

David C. Barker PhD, Director 

Mathew Foy MA, Research Associate 

Institute for Social Research-CSUS 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

3 

Executive Summary 
Every two years, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) requires local 

communities to conduct a census of all individuals experiencing homelessness in their region—called the 

Point-in-Time (PIT) Count—during one night at the end of January. This extensive countywide effort to 

estimate the local homeless population provides a snapshot of nearly all individuals and families staying 

at emergency/transitional shelters in the county, as well as those sleeping outside, in tents or vehicles 

and under bridges. In addition to fulfilling a HUD funding requirement, the PIT Count is a detailed and 

timely information source for local stakeholders and the broader community to assess the state of 

homelessness in their region.  

 

Sacramento Steps Forward (SSF) is the lead agency of the Sacramento Continuum of Care, and has held 

the responsibility of conducting the PIT Count for the past several years. In December 2016, SSF 

commissioned researchers at California State University, Sacramento (CSUS) to supervise and enhance 

the methodology of the 2017 PIT, as well as provide a thorough analysis of the data collected. This 

report summarizes some of the key findings and recommendation from the 2017 PIT Count. 

 

Analyses of the various data collected on January 25th, 2017, point to some general conclusions about 

the state of homelessness in Sacramento County: 

 

1. The county has experienced an increase in the number of individuals and families who confront 

homelessness on a nightly basis.  

 

• Since 2015, we estimate a real growth in nightly homeless of approximately 30% (from 

2,822 to 3,665). 

 

• The majority of homeless (56%) in the county are sleeping outdoors (unsheltered), a 

dramatic change in proportion from previous PIT counts 

 

• Indeed, there has been more pronounced growth among homeless who are unsheltered 

and sleeping outdoors (from 1,111 to 2,052; or 85% increase).   

 

2. Because of the disproportionate increase in unsheltered homeless—individuals who tend to 

have higher and more immediate needs than those in a shelter or transitional housing—the 2017 

PIT also saw sharp rise of particular at-risk groups.  

 

• Approximately 31% of the homeless in Sacramento County are chronically homeless—

have experienced prolonged bouts of housing instability and are disabled—which is a 

substantial increase from the 18% rate reported in 2015.   

 



	  
	  

4 

• We also found a 50% increase in the number of homeless veterans since 2015 (313 to 

469).  

 

• Notably, these estimates suggest that the majority of homeless veterans are unsheltered 

(69%).  

 

3. Some populations saw little to no change, or even a decrease, since 2015. However, it is unclear 

whether these decreases may reflect, in part, undercounting of difficult to engage 

subpopulations. 

 

• The 2017 PIT indicated a 20% decrease in the number of young adults (transitional aged 

youth) that experienced homelessness on the night of the count since 2015 (242 vs 303). 

 

• Transitional age youth often experience episodic periods of homelessness, which is likely 

to be missed in a single-point design study like the PIT. 

 

• The number of reported homeless families with children declined by 25% between 2015 

and 2017 (186 vs. 227). 

 

• The vast majority (95%) of homeless families are found in shelters or in transitional 

housing, where they comprise over a third (36%) of all homeless that use shelters. 

 

4. Because the PIT count methodology incorporates hundreds of surveys with individuals not using 

the shelter system, this report also offered a unique glimpse into the experiences of people who 

are homeless and sleeping outdoors.  Results from the 2017 survey point to a number of notable 

findings on subpopulations, a few of which include:  

 

• Individuals who reported continuous homelessness tended to be substantially older and 

were often encountered in encampments near the American River Parkway, in contrast 

to younger homeless who were interviewed nearer downtown Sacramento. 

 

• Older individuals indicated as chronically homeless – between 55 and 64 – were also 

more likely (a 70% greater chance) to report a military past (veteran status) or suffer from 

a disabling medical condition. 

 

• Chronically homeless are more likely to suffer from PTSD than the most unsheltered 

homeless group (54% compared to 46%), and more likely to have a mental condition of 

any type (64% compared to 57%).  

 

 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

5 

 

While the significant increases in homelessness in Sacramento County are concerning, the report 

discusses four key contextual factors that likely contributed, at least partially, to these larger estimates in 

the 2017 PIT. 

 

Improved methodology  
CSUS refined the sampling strategy by which geographic zones were selected for volunteers to 

canvas on the night of the 2017 PIT. This resulted in a more representative selection of canvased 

zones, and in particular included areas of South Sacramento that were likely under-sampled in 

previous years. Greater care was also given in 2017 to provide volunteers clear routing 

directions, to ensure that the entire geographic areas were canvassed. We estimate that the 

improved methodology contributed to approximately 15% greater efficiency in the 2017 

estimates; as such, we estimate that the 2015 count of unsheltered persons experiencing 

homelessness would have been approximately 6% larger if the same methodologies had been 

implemented that year.1 

 

Severe weather and flooding 
Between December 2016 and January 2017, Sacramento County, and Northern California in 

general, experienced torrential rainstorms, which resulted in severe flooding throughout the 

region. Notably, the American River rose to historic levels and flooded many of the riverbank 

areas that some groups experiencing homelessness use to camp, particularly in the 

unincorporated parts of the county. The extreme weather conditions likely contributed to 

significant migration of some homeless communities from more rural parts of the county to the 

urban center of Sacramento. This was evident by reports of several volunteers who described 

densely packed “tent communities” in non-flooded parts of the park, particularly near the 

Garden Highway.  Notably, the number of tents recorded by volunteers in 2017 was almost 

three times the number reported in 2015 (363 vs. 133).  Moreover, geo-spatial analysis of the 

count data indicated a clear pattern of high concentrations of homeless near unflooded parts of 

the American River. While it is difficult to estimate how many of these individuals in tents would 

have likely been undercounted under normal conditions, it is reasonable to assume that a 

significant number were included in the 2017 PIT due to their weather based migration. 

 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
1	  The 2017 PIT included a broader set of sampled zones than in previous years, particularly in southern parts of the 

city of Sacramento. These zones yielded approximately 14.7% of the total count for unsheltered homeless in 2017.  

By rough approximation, one could assume that the 2015 estimate of 948 unsheltered homeless, which omitted 

these zones, effectively represented only 85.3% of the total unsheltered homeless that year. Dividing the 948 total 

by its effectiveness rate of 85.3% suggests the 2015 total unsheltered population was approximately 1,111 (   !"#
!".!%

=

1,111). Readers should note that these omitted zones would have only impacted the unsheltered count, and not the 

sheltered count, which would have remained the same at 1,714. In total the adjusted 2015 count would have been 

approximately 2,822 (1,111+1,711=2,822) or 6% higher than the 2,659 reported.	  



	  
	  

6 

 

Growth in homelessness in the state 
The rise in homelessness between 2015 and 2017 in Sacramento County is consistent with 

similar increases recently reported across the state.  At the time of this writing, a number of 

communities have reported significant increases between their 2015 and 2017 estimates for 

persons experiencing homelessness on a nightly basis: 

 

• 39% increase reported in Alameda County (5,629 vs. 4,040). 

 

• 76% increase reported in Butte County (1,983 vs. 1,127). 

 

• 23% increase reported in Los Angeles County (57,794 vs. 44,359). 

 

Trends of homelessness in Sacramento County are generally consistent with the broader 

patterns of homelessness in California. For example: 

 

• The high proportion of homeless found sleeping outside in Sacramento (56%) is 

consistent with California’s overall average of 66% unsheltered homeless.  

 

• Sacramento’s rate of chronic homelessness of 31% is close in range to California’s rate of 

25%. 

 

• The majority of homeless veterans in the county are unsheltered (69%), consistent with 

the state average of 66%. 

 

These statewide trends reflect a confluence of social and economic factors, and highlight that 

homelessness is a local community issue, but one that is likely affected by broad dynamic trends.  

  

Housing market conditions  
Given the recent sharp increases in rental rates in Sacramento and the low stock of affordable 

housing units in the area, the growth in the number of persons experiencing homelessness is 

consistent with trends reported by other communities across the country with tight housing 

market conditions. Analyses of national PIT data have found that rental housing market factors – 

particularly housing costs – are the strongest predictors of homelessness across the 

communities. In particular, the proportion of residents in these communities who spend more 

than 30% of their total income on housing was strongly predictive of the overall homelessness 

rate in the region. These findings are telling given recent reports by the Sacramento Housing 

Alliance that 4 out of 10 residents in Sacramento spend over 50% of their monthly income on 

housing (SHA, 2016).  

 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

7 

The report concludes by suggesting a number of recommendations to improve the methodology and 

implementation of future PIT studies in the county. Although extensive efforts were undertaken to 

improve the geographic sampling of the 2017 PIT count, in future years further measures could improve 

the efficiency and accuracy of the PIT count.  These include increased data sharing with local law 

enforcement agencies, using technology to increase survey response rates, greater engagement with 

youth populations, and additional training of survey volunteers.  In addition, future efforts could seek to 

discover rates of homelessness among LGBTQ populations as well as to better understand the factors 

that contribute to homelessness in Sacramento County.  

 

Finally, the report discusses some general conclusions about community needs that the above findings 

identify. These include the need for more Emergency Shelter beds, Permanent Supportive Housing 

programs in the county, and affordable housing options for residents. While these recommendations are 

not in of themselves new, or unknown by most homeless service providers and advocates, the findings of 

this report likely highlight a new level of severity for these issues in Sacramento County. 

  



	  
	  

8 

Contents 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ................................................................................................................... 2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..................................................................................................................... 3 

INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................................. 10 
COLLABORATIVE EFFORT ............................................................................................................ 10 
REPORT ROADMAP ..................................................................................................................... 11 

SECTION 1 METHODOLOGY ........................................................................................................... 13 
ESTIMATING SHELTERED HOMELESS ............................................................................................ 13 
ESTIMATING UNSHELTERED HOMELESS ........................................................................................ 13 
MAPPING & SAMPLING ............................................................................................................... 14 
CANVASSING AND ENUMERATING ............................................................................................... 17 
SURVEY INTERVIEWS ................................................................................................................... 18 
SURVEY CLEANING AND ANALYSIS ............................................................................................... 19 
LIMITATIONS ............................................................................................................................. 21 

SECTION 2 GENERAL FINDINGS .................................................................................................... 23 
NIGHTLY ESTIMATES .................................................................................................................. 23 
CHANGES OVER TIME ................................................................................................................ 24 
CONTEXT TO CONSIDER ............................................................................................................. 25 

Severe weather and flooding .............................................................................................. 25 
Growth in homelessness in the state ................................................................................... 26 
Housing Market ................................................................................................................... 27 

DEMOGRAPHICS OF UNSHELTERED HOMELESS ............................................................................. 27 

SECTION 3 SUBPOPULATIONS ....................................................................................................... 30 
CHRONICALLY HOMELESS ........................................................................................................... 30 
VETERANS ................................................................................................................................. 36 
TRANSITIONAL AGE YOUTH ........................................................................................................ 40 

OTHER RISK FACTORS .................................................................................................................... 42 
FORMER FOSTER YOUTH ............................................................................................................ 42 
VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE ............................................................................................... 43 
FAMILIES WITH CHILDREN ........................................................................................................... 43 

SECTION 4 GEO-SPATIAL ANALYSIS OF THE 2017 PIT ................................................................. 45 
ESTIMATES BY CITY .................................................................................................................... 45 
GIS MAPS ................................................................................................................................. 47 
FIGURE 15: SPATIAL DISTRIBUTION COUNTY MAP ......................................................................... 47 
FIGURE 16: SPATIAL DISTRIBUTION DOWNTOWN SACRAMENTO MAP ............................................ 48 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

9 

EXTRAPOLATED VS. SAMPLED ZONES ........................................................................................... 49 

SECTION 5 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................... 50 

WORKS CITED ................................................................................................................................. 56 

APPENDIX ....................................................................................................................................... 58 
HUD DATA TABLES ................................................................................................................... 58 
EXTRAPOLATING PROCESS .......................................................................................................... 64 
ENUMERATION INSTRUCTIONS .................................................................................................... 65 
SURVEY INSTRUMENT ................................................................................................................. 67 
STUDENT CONTRIBUTORS ........................................................................................................... 71 

 
 

  



	  
	  

10 

Introduction 
Every two years Sacramento County and its incorporated cities undertake an extensive effort to estimate 

the number of individuals in the region who experience homelessness. This effort, known as the 

Homeless Point-in-Time (PIT) Count, is congressionally mandated for communities to receive federal 

funding from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). To adhere to HUD 

requirements, communities participate in a systematic data collection process to estimate the total 

number of individuals staying at an emergency/transitional shelter or sleeping outside (i.e., sheltered vs. 

unsheltered) during one night at end of January. In addition to counting the number of individuals 

experiencing homelessness encountered outside encountered outside during the PIT night, HUD 

encourages communities to collect in-person surveys of these individuals in order to gain further insight 

into demographic characteristics of these populations. HUD also requires communities to report on 

specific subpopulations among the homeless, including veterans, transitional age youth, and groups 

experiencing chronic patterns of housing instability. 

  

In addition to fulfilling a HUD funding requirement, the PIT Count is a detailed and timely information 

source for local stakeholders and the broader community to assess the state of homelessness in their 

region. As the PIT count methodology incorporates hundreds of surveys with individuals not using the 

shelter system, it offers a unique glimpse into the experiences of homeless persons sleeping outdoors, 

or in locations not suitable for human habitation. Though the PIT is just one “snapshot” of homelessness 

in the community, and admittedly an imperfect one, the study nonetheless provides stakeholders a 

broad picture of homelessness and the level of need in Sacramento in 2017. This report summarizes 

some of the key findings from the 2017 PIT Count and provides recommendations for future PIT counts.  

Collaborative Effort 
The PIT study requires a high level of coordination and planning between a number of homeless service 

providers and advocates, city officials, law enforcement, and hundreds of community volunteers. 

Because of this high level of collaboration, PIT Counts are traditionally facilitated by a community’s 

Continuum of Care (CoC) lead agency—a HUD designation for a central agency in the community that 

helps coordinate homelessness programs receiving federal funding. As the lead agency of the 

Sacramento CoC, Sacramento Steps Forward (SSF) has held the responsibility of conducting the PIT 

Count for the past several years. In December 2016, SSF commissioned researchers at California State 

University, Sacramento (CSUS) to improve upon the methodology of the 2015 PIT and to enhance the 

analysis of the data collected (see methodology section for more detail). While SSF retained primary 

responsibility of the 2017 PIT and its coordination (e.g., outreach efforts, training of volunteers, 

deploying teams, etc.), the CSUS research team provided oversight of the methodological design of the 

study, and conducted all the analyses presented in this report. However, it should be emphasized that 

the 2017 PIT was a true community effort, reflecting the work of hundreds of stakeholders, volunteers 

and CSUS students. 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

11 

Report Roadmap 
The goal of this report is to provide community members with a general understanding of the key 

findings from the 2017 Sacramento PIT Count (hereinafter referred simply as the 2017 PIT) as well as to 

highlight contextual factors to consider in light of these findings. The report also points to some general 

conclusions about the level of need in the community and provides recommendations for future PIT 

Counts. Given these goals, the report is organized in the following five sections: 

  

  Section 1 summarizes the research design of the 2017 PIT, focusing primarily on the specific 

methodologies employed by CSUS (as opposed to logistics and coordination facilitated by SSF). Here, 

we provide a brief summary of how data from the Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) 

was analyzed to estimate the number of individuals using shelters during the night of the count. A more 

detailed summary is provided with respect to the unsheltered design, where we discuss the mapping 

and sampling strategies CSUS used to identify the specific geographic areas that were canvassed by 

volunteers on the night of the count. We also overview the enumeration (counting) and survey processes 

deployed, and discuss how the survey data was statistically weighted to the count data in the final stage 

of analysis. Finally, we provide an overview of some of the limitations of the analysis and some of the 

likely biases to consider. 

  

  Section 2 presents general findings of the 2017 PIT, including a detailed exploration into the 

substantial growth of these estimates compared to previous years (between 35%-85% since 2015). Three 

primary factors we address are the improved 2017 methodology, the severe flooding that preceded this 

year’s count, and the ongoing economic conditions likely exacerbating housing insecurity in Sacramento. 

Lastly, we present breakdowns of overall demographics and household characteristics of unsheltered 

individuals interviewed on the night of the count. 

  

  Section 3 provides further analysis of a selection of subpopulations that are at higher risk for 

experiencing homelessness. Specifically, we present detailed data on individuals who are chronically 

homeless, veterans, and transition aged youth.  We also present data on several groups and 

circumstances associated with higher risk of experiencing homelessness (e.g., former foster youth, 

domestic violence etc.). 

  

  Section 4 presents a geo-spatial analysis of the 2017 PIT data, and reports on how the 

population of unsheltered homeless is likely distributed across the county. Specifically, we estimate an 

approximate number of unsheltered homeless within each incorporated city in the county, and within the 

surrounding unincorporated area. We also present maps of the projected homeless in Sacramento 

County to investigate geographical trends in where these individuals reside. In this section, we present 

an adjusted, less conservative, estimate of homelessness in Sacramento that incorporates additional SSF 

data collected outside of the PIT, as well as extrapolated estimates from unsampled regions of the 

County. 

  



	  
	  

12 

Section 5 summarizes the general trends that the 2017 PIT uncovered, and highlights policy 

recommendations according to the authors (CSUS). We also discuss our methodological 

recommendations for future PIT Counts in Sacramento. 

  

  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

13 

Section 1 Methodology 
Per HUD requirements, the PIT count is technically a census of all individuals in the county experiencing 

homelessness on a single night in late January. This means that CoCs are required to account for all 

individuals experiencing homelessness who are residing in emergency shelters or transitional housing on 

the night of the PIT. In addition, CoCs are responsible for conducting a robust canvassing of all areas in 

their regions where unsheltered homeless are likely to be sleeping on the same night. HUD also requires 

that CoCs provide demographic estimates of specific homeless subpopulations in their community (e.g., 

the number of homeless families, veterans and chronically homeless, and the respective composition of 

each group in terms of race, gender and age). Because of these various requirements, multiple methods 

are used in producing the ultimate homeless count for the region. Below, we introduce the sheltered 

homeless count method that is organized by SSF before presenting a more detailed report on the 

sampling methods used by CSUS for the unsheltered count.  

Estimating Sheltered Homeless 
Sacramento Steps Forward (SSF) provided estimates of all individuals and households residing in an 

emergency shelter or transitional housing on the night of the count. SSF accomplished this by 

aggregating data from its Homeless Management Information System (HMIS)--a client database SSF 

coordinates for all HUD-funded and county-funded homeless service providers. 

 

• HMIS records for the night of January 25th were compiled and analyzed by SSF in the weeks 

following the PIT count.  

o Some homeless programs in Sacramento County are not funded by HUD and 

consequently do not contribute data into HMIS. To account for individuals who used 

these programs on January 25th, SSF coordinated a separate manual reporting process 

to collect this data, which was incorporated into HMIS in the weeks following the PIT 

count. 

 

• HMIS data captures all of the HUD-required information for persons and households residing in 

a shelter or transitional housing on the night of the count. 

o This includes demographic characteristics of all individuals, and their homelessness 

history.  

Estimating Unsheltered Homeless 
CSUS estimated the number of unsheltered persons experiencing homelessness (those sleeping outside 

of a shelter on the night of the count) using a combination of fielding and survey methodologies 

recommended by HUD. In general, these methodologies called for the use of local experts to first define 

geographical areas where homeless people are likely to sleep. CSUS used this information to map out 

deployment zones for volunteers to canvas on the night of the count. On the night of the count, 

volunteer teams traveled to each sampled zone where they visually enumerated (i.e., counted) homeless 

individuals encountered, and attempted to survey individuals who were awake and willing to be 



	  
	  

14 

interviewed. Because volunteers are deployed after shelters have stopped their intakes for the night, it is 

assumed that all homeless individuals encountered are unsheltered homeless.  

 

We elaborate on the specifics of this unsheltered methodology by summarizing each of the four 

components below:  

1. Mapping & Sampling 

2. Canvasing & Enumerating 

3. Survey Interviews 

4. Survey Cleaning and Analysis 

Mapping & Sampling 
Pre-Mapping. In the month prior the 2017 PIT, SSF worked with various community stakeholders to 

identify “known areas” and locations where individuals experiencing homelessness may be sleeping 

during the night. While CoCs sometimes collect this information several months before the count, SSF 

had decided in the Fall of 2016 to compile and update this mapping information much closer to time of 

the actual 2017 PIT. This was done given concerns of SSF staff that homeless encampments move 

frequently, rendering mapped locations out of date by the time of the PIT count (i.e., areas mapped in 

November are likely to be out of date by late January, according to SSF staff). 

 

• Between December 2016 and January 2017, SSF collected and compiled information from 38 

different local entities and organizations that have regular contact with the homeless (such as 

outreach teams, service providers, homeless advocates, local businesses, county representatives 

and law enforcement agencies; see Acknowledgment for a complete list).  

 

• In total, SSF provided CSUS detailed geospatial mapping data on approximately 1,000 locations 

(e.g., specific street intersections, overpasses, parking lots) where homeless encampments, 

sleeping bags, or sleeping individuals had been spotted.  

 

In addition, CSUS analyzed data provided by the Sacramento Sheriff's Department that tracked calls for 

service related to homeless activity (transient-related calls for service) during the three months prior to 

the count.  CSUS also analyzed data from the previous 2015 PIT, including maps and count statistics 

provided by SSF. Using these data sources, CSUS identified locations where at least 5 homeless-related 

calls had been made in the three months prior the 2017 Count or at least 5 homeless individuals had 

been found in the 2015 PIT Count. 

 

Combining both sets of information, CSUS next overlaid the resulting spatial data with the pre-

established 84 sampling zones used in the 2015 PIT. Given time constraints, CSUS had anticipated, and 

hoped, to use as many of the pre-established zones of 2015 as possible. However, analysis of the 2015 

zones, and their correlation with the 2017 mapping data revealed the following: 

 

• Only 25 out of the 84 zones from 2015 contained 5 or more calls for service  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

15 

 

• Many of the 2015 zones located along the American River Parkway were not accessible in 

January 2017 due to recent flooding 

 

• Some locations in South Sacramento that contained a high number of mapping data points were 

insufficiently covered by the 2015 zones 

 

Given these results, CSUS decided to keep 25 of the previously used 2015 zones unchanged while 

slightly modifying an additional 16 (moving or re-aligning their boundaries so that they would be 

accessible in 2017). In addition, CSUS generated 104 new possible zones to improve the geographic 

breadth of the potential sample, as well as to better align zones with the 2017 mapping data. These new 

zones were approximately 150 square acres (somewhat consistent with the 2015 zones), took into 

consideration physical barriers that would hinder volunteer access, and contained at least 5 of the 2017 

mapping data points. In total, CSUS identified 145 possible sampling zones for the 2017 PIT.  
 

• This sampling universe of 145, non-overlapping, geographic areas contained: 

o 19 “Hot Zones” where 15 or more individuals were anticipated to reside 

o 119 “Warm Zones” where 6-14 individuals were anticipated to reside 

o 7 “Cold Zones” where 1-5 individuals were anticipated to reside 

 

Sampling. CSUS sought to refine the sampling strategy of the 2017 PIT to include a broader breadth of 

geographic zones for volunteers to canvas on the night of the count. CSUS anticipated that volunteer 

teams would be able to canvas between 75-80 zones out of the 145 possible. To maximize the efforts of 

the anticipated 300-400 volunteers, CSUS stratified the sampling by the following method:  

 

• All “Hot Zones” were automatically sampled 

o 19 “Hot Zones” located in and around Carmichael, Rancho Cordova, Arden-Arcade, 

Downtown Sacramento, Midtown-East Sacramento, South Sacramento, and areas near 

the American River 

 

• All Warm Zones within Priority Regions were automatically sampled 

o SSF and CSUS designated 4 Priority Regions, to ensure sufficient coverage in areas 

where warm zones were clustered, or in areas that may have been insufficiently sampled 

in previous years.  

o All warm zones within each Priority Region were automatically included in the sample, 

such as those in Downtown Sacramento (18 zones), South Sacramento (15 zones), Citrus 

Heights (5) and Elk Grove(6)2 

 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
2 For 2017 there were 6 zones mapped in and around Elk Grove, compared to 7 in 2015, and 5 zones mapped in 
and around Citrus Heights, compared to 1 in 2015. Law enforcement guided volunteer teams in Citrus Heights 



	  
	  

16 

• Randomly Selected Warm & Cold zones 

o A total of 16 zones were randomly selected from the remaining areas 

o These zones were in Tahoe Park, Oak Park, Land Park, Del Paso Heights, Rosemont, and 

the Antelope area.  

 

A total of 80 zones were sampled out of the 145 possible, and volunteers were ultimately sent to 72 of 

these zones on the night of January 25th, 2017. The resulting sample included all of the hot spot 

locations identified in the mapping process and incorporated a broad representation of areas 

throughout the county, some of which may have been under sampled in previous years. Moreover, other 

areas of Sacramento County not covered in the 72-zone sample were separately canvassed by either SSF 

staff or local law enforcement immediately before or after the 2017 PIT. These areas included: 

 

• City of Folsom 

o CSUS designed 4 general zones where SSF staff were deployed on the weekend after 

the 2017 PIT (January 27th, 2017).  

 

• City of Galt  

o Due to its small size, and distance from the deployment center3, the city of Galt was not 

included in the sampling universe of potential deployment zones for January 25th. 

However, SSF staff traveled to Galt on the night following the 2017 PIT (January 26th) 

and canvassed particular locations identified by law enforcement as areas where 

homeless reside.  

 

• City of Isleton 

o Similar to Galt, CSUS did not generate zones for Isleton or include it in the universe of 

sampled areas. Nonetheless, SSF staff worked with the City Clerk’s office and identified 

specific locations to canvass on the night following the count (also on January 26th). 

 

• Capitol Downtown Area  

o The Downtown Sacramento Partnership conducts its own census count of the homeless 

each year in the downtown block area surrounding the state capitol. Because of their 

experience conducting this count, and familiarity with where individuals sleep, DSP 

conducted it own census of homeless on the morning of January 25th. 

The enumeration (count) data collected at these separately canvassed locations were generally low (with 

the exception of the Capitol Downtown Area) and were excluded from most of the analyses presented in 

this report, including the official tally presented to HUD. This was primarily due to methodological 

concerns regarding the lack of survey data at these locations, which would have complicated the 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
3 All volunteer teams were deployed from the County of Sacramento Department of Human Assistance (DHA) at 
1725 28th Street in Downtown Sacramento.  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

17 

demographic analysis of the broader sample.4 However, the data is included in the final extrapolated 

homelessness count for the County presented in this report (See Section 4).' 

Canvassing and Enumerating  
In the weeks prior to the 2017 PIT, SSF conducted a series of training workshops required of all 

volunteers. The two-hour sessions reviewed the protocols of canvassing, mapping directions, and the 

enumeration and survey instruments to be used. A separate vendor assisted SSF in recruiting and 

coordinating volunteers for these training sessions, which were attended by approximately 360 

community volunteers. 

 

CSUS provided SSF a total of 80 canvassing maps for volunteer teams to use on the night of the count. 

Each map included general driving directions to the sampled zone, and specific routing instructions for 

volunteers to follow. Based on feedback from SSF, CSUS attempted to provide as much visual detail as 

possible in maps and direction to help volunteer teams navigate their respective location and sufficiently 

cover the sampled areas.  

 

With respect to the enumeration (count) tool, volunteers were instructed to count every individual that 

they encountered during their canvassing route, with some minor exceptions consistent with HUD 

guidelines.5 The enumeration tool directed volunteers to record each homeless person individually, 

where each row in the form corresponded to each individual observed. However, volunteers were also 

instructed to note when individuals were standing, sitting, or sleeping next to each other, and designate 

these individuals as being members of a single household. Volunteers were also asked to record 

demographic characteristics of all individuals they encountered (age, gender and race). These data 

provided a baseline of broad estimates of the underlying characteristics – for instance age categories 

were “Under 18”, “TAY”, or “Over 25”, and some racial/ethnic distinctions were more difficult to make 

for individuals counted at night. Finally, volunteers were asked to record the number of cars, tents and 

RVs they encountered that they suspected were being used for permanent habitation by a group or 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
4 As is discussed below, demographic data of unsheltered homeless was captured through the use of surveys, which 
were conducted with a sub-group of individuals counted on the night of the count (n=168). Results from the surveys 
were extrapolated to the broader count sample of unsheltered homeless (n=2,052) using a two-level statistical 
weight based on the location of the survey and the household size. Because the additional sites did not have survey 
data, their inclusion in the demographic analyses would have introduced higher levels of uncertainty in the 
calculated estimates. Moreover, the canvassing methodology employed in these location likely differed from those 
used in other areas, introducing other unknown biases. 
 
5 Per HUD guidelines volunteers were instructed to count every person they observed, even if they doubted the 
individual’s homeless status. The only exceptions to this rule were persons: who are clearly working ( e.g., 
construction or road maintenance workers), who are conducting ordinary business at a site that provides 24-hrs 
services (such as a gas station or grocery store), or who are driving by (cars and RVs must be stationary to be 
counted). 
 



	  
	  

18 

individual.6 Volunteers were generally instructed not to disturb or wake individuals during their 

canvassing, and consequently were encouraged not to collect individual-level data of persons inside a 

vehicle or tent. The exception was if individuals in tents or vehicles greeted the volunteers, in which case 

volunteers could record the specific individuals encountered.  During the analysis stage, CSUS estimated 

that each car and tent corresponded to approximately two homeless individuals on average (unless 

otherwise noted by volunteers), while RVs corresponded to three individuals. 

 

In total, volunteers filled out approximately 450 enumeration forms across the 72-zone sample, and 

reported 1,558 individual data points (including 363 tents, 117 cars, and 30 RVs); as discussed in Section 

2 this was approximated to 2,052 unsheltered individuals. In the weeks following data collection, 

volunteer CSUS students assisted with entering the data into an online database and CSUS analysts then 

checked the data for consistency.   

Survey Interviews 
In addition to providing a general count of those in the community experiencing homelessness, HUD 

requires that CoCs estimate the general demographic composition of the local homeless population 

(e.g., age, race, gender, etc.), and that they report on the prevalence of certain conditions and 

subpopulations (e.g., homeless who have a disability, are chronically homeless, etc.). While background 

information on sheltered homeless is readily available in HMIS, for unsheltered homeless these estimates 

are more difficult to accurately assess with just a visual counting process. For this reason, HUD 

recommends that in-person surveys be administered to a subpopulation of unsheltered homeless during 

the PIT, the responses from which can be extrapolated to the broader unsheltered population (i.e., using 

the demographic composition of survey respondents as an approximation of the demographic 

composition of all unsheltered). 

 

The 2017 PIT survey instrument was inspired from HUD guidelines and templates, and incorporated 

questions from the 2015 Sacramento County PIT. CSUS revised the survey instrument to reduce the 

page length of the paper survey, minimize redundancy, and simplify the wording of some questions. 

CSUS also explored options of administering the surveys electronically (either through smartphones or 

tablets) but decided against using these mechanisms given time and logistic constraints.  

 

Generally speaking, the 2017 survey instrument collected information on respondents’: 

 

• Demographics (such as their race, age, and gender/transgender status)7 

 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
6 When volunteers encountered parked vehicles, they were ask to look for clues of habitation such as: the vehicle 
was on and running with the windows partially open, the windows were fogged over, the vehicle was parked in a lot 
behind a shopping center, or in an alley. 
 
7 In 2016 HUD introduced new guidelines for the 2017 PIT with respect to how respondents should be asked about 
their gender status, and whether they identify as male, female, transgender or don’t identify with any of the these 
categories.  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

19 

• Sleeping location (e.g., street, tent in the woods, car etc.) 

• Involvement in the military (e.g., veteran status, use of veteran benefits, etc.) 

• Number of times and duration they have been homeless (e.g., first time homeless) 

• Disabilities and other life conditions (e.g., mental health status, etc.) 

• Household size (i.e., broadly defined as the number of “people who live with you now or most of 

the time”) 

 

• First two letters of their first and last name8 

Volunteers were trained to approach every adult who was awake during the PIT count (not in a tent or 

vehicle) and invite him or her to complete a set of screener questions that assessed their housing status 

(see Appendix for survey prompt). A $10 McDonald’s Gift Card was offered as an incentive to 

respondents who completed the screener and, if qualified, the subsequent survey. Volunteers were 

instructed to provide the incentive regardless if the participant completed the survey or not, and were 

encouraged to let respondents stop the survey at any time. For respondents residing in a group/family, 

the survey instrument included duplicates of every question for up to five members of a household 

(additional forms were provided to volunteers if households were larger than five). Volunteers were 

trained to ask each respondent one set of questions at a time, completing each section of the survey, 

before asking the same questions to the next respondent. 

Survey Cleaning and Analysis 
After the data were collected, SSF provided CSUS a total of 201 paper surveys. In the weeks following 

the 2017 PIT, CSUS recruited the help of student volunteers to compile and enter the data into a 

database, similar to the enumeration form process (i.e., each survey was entered two times into an online 

system and analysts then checked these final entries for consistency). Preliminary analysis of the 201 

survey packets revealed 158 completed surveys and 43 partially or incomplete surveys. Ten of the 

partially complete surveys contained enough data to be included in the final analysis, increasing the total 

to 168 useable surveys. 

 

Missing data varied slightly by responses; generally speaking demographic data for head of households 

were completed by 90% to 98% of respondents (2% to 10% missing), while for more sensitive questions 

(disability status, mental health, experiences with domestic violence) the rate varied between 87% and 

93% (7% to 13% missing data). This was generally a strong level of completed data given the 

challenging settings in which volunteers conducted the surveys (i.e., outside in the middle of the night). 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
8 To reduce the risk of including respondents who may have completed the survey with multiple volunteer teams 
(i.e., duplicated response), the survey asked respondents for the first two letters of their first name and last name (as 
well as month and day they were born) to generate unique identifiers for each survey, in way that minimized like. In 
2017, CSUS found no evidence of duplicated responses. 



	  
	  

20 

Because missing responses indicated no gender, racial or age bias (specific demographic groups were 

not more likely to omit responses), CSUS excluded non-responses when calculating proportions of 

specific question responses, and applied these proportion to the overall sample. 

 

For other members of the household, however, missing data was more prevalent, particularly in the end 

of the survey where more sensitive questions were asked. Demographic questions were completed by 

90% to 94% of the second household respondents, but more sensitive questions were completed by 

only 50% to 70% of these individuals.  Generally, answer integrity seemed to deteriorate as more 

members in the household were asked more questions. Because of these issues, CSUS sometimes 

inputted missing values from the responses provided from the head of household. Overall, however, 

these data issues were minimal as 90% of the respondents were in households with two or fewer 

members. 

 

Survey Weights. As discussed above, surveys were designed to estimate the size of specific 

subpopulations among the total enumerated unsheltered population (N=2,052). In previous Sacramento 

County PIT counts, researchers simply calculated proportions from specific demographic responses in 

the survey and applied them as estimated proportions of the unsheltered population (i.e., because 18% 

of the 266 survey respondents in 2015 were indicated as chronically homeless, it was assumed that 18% 

of the unsheltered population was chronically homeless). However, this method requires the data fit a 

number of specific characteristics to ensure accuracy; characteristics that are rarely met with extrapolated 

census data (for instance, that there is little variation in population averages and that these data are 

normally distributed). 9 

 

In 2017, CSUS attempted to improve upon the methodology by calculating weights for each survey 

response based on two primary characteristics: the region in which the survey was administered and the 

household size of those individuals surveyed. To accomplish this, CSUS established five Regions within 

the county that were likely to have internally consistent populations, including a Downtown Sacramento 

Region and a region that followed the length of the American River. These characteristics were chosen 

as they had nearly 100% response rates in both headcount and survey data, and were the most accurate 

data collected from the headcounts (as discussed earlier, few demographic characteristics collected 

during the enumeration process had perfect accuracy). Surveys were then matched to the PIT 

headcount, and weighted so that the overall household distribution and the overall geographic 

distribution of the surveys and counts varied by no more than 5%. These weights were trimmed for 
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
9 Additionally, this proportional weighting hinders accuracy of the data on subpopulation groups. Following the 

above example, if 18% of respondents reported spending three years homeless and 18% reported having a 

disabling condition, this method assumes that 18% of the respondents (and therefore 18% of the population) are 

chronically homeless. However, the 18% who are disabled and 18% with extended periods homeless are not 

necessarily the same individuals – as such the 18% chronic population statistic is an inaccurate characteristic of the 

underlying population. By weighting individual survey responses, CSUS alleviated a significant source of this type of 

response bias.  

	  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

21 

consistency and then applied to all of the demographic data from the completed surveys to provide 

expected percentages for each count response.  

Limitations 
As with any research project, the 2017 PIT has some limitations that the reader should consider. First, it 

is important to note that the definitions of homelessness used by HUD, and operationalized in the 2017 

PIT, do not capture all forms of housing insecurity occurring in the community. For example, a young 

person “couch surfing” in a friend’s living room, or multiple families needing to “double up” in a single 

two-bedroom apartment represent real forms of housing instability that are nonetheless missed by the 

official definitions of homelessness. 

 

Similarly, it is likely that some groups were undercounted in the unsheltered count of the 2017 PIT; while 

researchers attempted to achieve a census of all individuals experiencing homelessness in the 

community, some individuals may undoubtedly be missed by volunteer teams. 

 

• Some groups, like transitional age youth, as well as youth under 18, may attempt to intentionally 

avoid canvassing teams. Indeed, HUD has encouraged communities during the last two years to 

improve their methodology for canvasing young people, precisely because of a documented 

reluctance among vulnerable youth to talk and engage with adults in the community. 

o This year SSF took concerted efforts to collaborate with service providers, advocates, 

and even transitional age youth themselves to help identify locations and areas of the 

city where unaccompanied may congregate at night.   

o Youth interviewers were also hired by SSF in hopes of increasing the number of surveys 

completed by this age group. 

o Even with these efforts, however, estimates for youth may be lower than their actual 

representation in the community. 

 

• While homeless families with children are more likely to be found in shelters than outdoors 

(particularly compared to other homeless groups, like single adult males), it is assumed that 

unsheltered families are often undercounted in the PIT methodology. In particular, it has been 

reported that families are more likely than other groups to use a car or RVs for shelter, as 

opposed to sleeping outside or in a tent. Because volunteers are trained not to approach and 

disturb occupants of these vehicles, there is often incomplete data for researchers to extrapolate 

an accurate estimate of families sleeping in these situations.   

 

Readers should also be mindful that survey responses, from which most of the demographic data on 

unsheltered homeless are captured, likely reflect some biases in the data collection process.  First, there 

is the bias of self-selection; respondents self-selected to participate in the survey, and may have different 



	  
	  

22 

motivations to do so. Though researchers assume a certain level of error in their estimates,10 which 

captures some of these selection biases, it is likely that some groups are less likely than others to 

participate in a survey study.  Secondly, it is important to keep in mind that all of the information 

provided by respondents is self-reported.  Individuals may be reluctant to disclose high-risk behaviors to 

a stranger, including drug use, emotional and physical disabilities, and instances of domestic violence. 

Additionally, it is impossible for the volunteer team to independently verify this self-reported 

information. This is important to remember, as our estimates can only be as accurate as the survey 

responses on which they are based on. 

 

Finally, as with any statistical imputation method, the mechanism of weighting surveys is inherently 

imperfect as it attempts to predict a large universe of behavior from a small amount of information. 

However, weighting mechanisms have a long history of use for such extrapolation (e.g. national polls 

based on a survey of a few thousand individuals) and the CSUS research team has advanced training and 

experience with these methods.11  

    

 

 

 

  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
10 Another source of error is the fact that 2017 saw a significant decrease in the number of completed surveys 

relative to the count population as compared to previous years. In 2015, researchers reported 266 completed 

surveys out of the 948 unsheltered individuals enumerated (a ratio of 3.5 individuals per survey completed). In 2017, 

only 168 surveys were completed out of the 2,052 unsheltered individuals counted (a ratio of 12.2 individuals per 

survey). This may have contributed to less efficiency and more error in demographic estimates than in previous 

years– particularly for sparsely populated subgroups, such as those individuals with HIV.  Nonetheless, CSUS is 

confident that the estimates approximate real growth in the overall homeless population as well as the primary 

subpopulations analyzed in this report. 

	  
11	  Members of the CSUS research team have been trained in statistical weighting for surveys through a partnership 
with the Bureau of Labor Statistics. 	  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

23 

Section 2 General Findings 

Nightly Estimates 
On a single night in January 2017, a total 1,613 individuals accessed emergency shelters or transitional 

housing across Sacramento County. In addition, it is estimated that a total 2,052 individuals were 

sleeping outside or in a location not suitable for extended human habitation (e.g., tents by the river, 

automobiles, or trailers). Combined, these numbers suggest that approximately 3,665 people in 

Sacramento County experience homelessness on any given night in 2017. 

	  

Examining these estimates more closely indicates that on January 25th: 

• Only 44% of the homeless in the county (1,613 out of 3,665) were sheltered 

o 26% accessed emergency shelters (n= 947) 

o 18% accessed transitional housing (n=643) 

 

• In contrast, 56% of all homeless (2,052 out of 3,665) were unsheltered  

o 29% were sleeping outside (1,058 out of 3,665) 

o 18% were sleeping in tents (an estimated 687 individuals in 335 tents) 

o 8% were sleeping in cars (an estimated 307 individuals in 139 vehicles) 

 

 

  

 1,613  
 2,052  

 3,665  

 -    

 500  

 1,000  

 1,500  

 2,000  

 2,500  

 3,000  

 3,500  

 4,000  

Sheltered Unsheltered Total 

Figure 1: 
2017 PIT Estimates of Total Homeless  



	  
	  

24 

Changes Over Time 
The 2017 PIT estimate of 3,665 individuals in Sacramento County experiencing homelessness on a 

nightly basis represents a substantial increase compared to previous PIT estimates, and is likely the 

highest estimate on record.   

• Overall, there was a 38% increase in total homeless from the 2015 PIT (3,665 vs. 2,659), and a 

42% increase from the 2013 PIT (2,538).   

 

As figure 2 shows, the increase is most substantial with respect to unsheltered homeless sleeping 

outside. Indeed, the ratio of unsheltered to sheltered homeless has dramatically changed from recent 

years; in prior PIT studies, unsheltered homeless were estimated to be approximately half the size of the 

sheltered population, but in 2017 the unsheltered population exceeded the sheltered population by a 

quarter. 

• Between 2015 and 2017 the number of unsheltered homeless grew from 948 to 2,052 (a 110% 

increase). 

 

There are various factors contributing to the substantial increase in homelessness in Sacramento County, 

including improved methodology. Specifically, CSUS refined the sampling strategy by which geographic 

zones were selected for volunteers to canvas on the night of the 2017 PIT (see Section 1). This resulted in 

a more representative selection of canvased zones, and in particular included areas of South Sacramento 

that were likely under sampled in previous years. Greater care was also given in 2017 to provide 

volunteers clear routing directions, to ensure that entire geographic areas were canvassed. We estimate 

that the improved methodology contributed to approximately 15% greater efficiency in the 2017 

estimates; roughly speaking we estimate that 2015 estimates of unsheltered homeless would have been 

2,538 2,659 
2,822 

 3,665  

1,752 1,711 1,711  1,613  

786 948 1111 

2052 

0 

500 

1,000 

1,500 

2,000 

2,500 

3,000 

3,500 

4,000 

2013 2015 2015- Adjusted 2017 

Figure 2: 
PIT Estimates over Time 

Total Sheltered Unsheltered Linear (Total) 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

25 

approximately 6% larger if the same methodologies had been implemented.12 Taking into consideration 

this adjusted-2015 estimate suggests: 

• The real growth in total homeless in Sacramento County was approximately 30% between 2015 

and 2017 (3,665 vs. 2,822). 

 

• The real growth in unsheltered homeless in Sacramento County was approximately 85% 

between 2015 and 2017 (2,052 vs. 1,111). 

Context to Consider 
The real numbers of individuals experiencing homelessness in the county are undoubtedly even higher 

than the 2017 PIT estimates, particularly given the limitations and narrow definitions of homelessness 

assumed in the study design.13 Nonetheless, the above estimates are useful to consider as a standard 

barometer of relative change in homelessness; assuming that PIT studies are implemented generally 

consistently from year to year, their results likely capture relative change in the homeless population over 

time.  It is clear that even considering the adjustments in methodologies in 2017, homelessness has 

likely increased in Sacramento County by at least a third (30%).   

A reported rise in the number of homeless is often met with concern by the public, who may worry about 

the number of homeless migrating from other communities, the effectiveness of current programs, and 

public safety in general. While these are important issues to consider, the authors of this report 

nonetheless believe it is important to consider the rise of homelessness in the context of the following 

contributing factors:  

Severe weather and flooding 
Between December 2016 and January 2017, Sacramento County, and Northern California in general, 

experienced torrential rainstorms, which resulted in severe flooding throughout the region. Notably, the 

American River rose to historic levels and flooded many of the riverbank areas that some homeless use 

to camp, particularly in the unincorporated parts of the county. Indeed, in the week prior the 2017 PIT 

CSUS had to adjust or abandon many of the geographic zones in the American River Park used in prior 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
12 The 2017 PIT included a broader set of sampled zones than in previous years, particularly in southern parts of the 
city of Sacramento. These zones yielded approximately 14.7% of the total count for unsheltered homeless in 2017.  
By rough approximation, one could assume that the 2015 estimate of 948 unsheltered homeless, which omitted 
these zones, effectively represented only 85.3% of the total unsheltered homeless that year. Dividing the 948 total 

by its effectiveness rate of 85.3% suggests the 2015 total unsheltered population was approximately 1,111(   !"#
!".!%

=
1,111). Readers should note that these omitted zones would have only impacted the unsheltered count, and not the 
sheltered count, which would have remained the same at 1,714. In total the adjusted 2015 count would have been 
approximately 2,822 (1,111+1,711) or 6% larger than the reported 2,659. 
 
13 In section 4 of this report we consider other data sources and statistical approaches to provide a less-conservative 
estimate of homelessness within each of the seven incorporated cities in the county. This includes extrapolating 
estimates from un-sampled regions of the county (estimating the predicted number of homeless that could have 
been encountered in regions not-canvassed on January 25th) and incorporating data collected beyond the time 
parameters of the PIT study design. 



	  
	  

26 

PIT studies due to severe flooding. The extreme weather conditions likely contributed to significant 

migration of some homeless communities from more rural parts of the county to the urban center of 

Sacramento. This was evident by reports of several volunteers who described densely packed “tent 

communities” in non-flooded parts of the park, particularly near the Garden Highway.  Notably, 

• The number of tents recorded by volunteers in 2017 

was almost three times the number reported in 2015 

(363 vs. 133).   

 

o The additional 230 tents in 2017 represented an 

additional 460 homeless individuals. 

 

o These additional individuals account for 

approximately 47% of the total change in 

homelessness between 2015 and 2017 (470 out 

of the 941 increase in adjusted unsheltered). 

 
• It is likely that individuals in many of these tents 

generally reside in areas of the American River that are not typically canvassed in PIT studies. But 

due to flooding and their subsequent migration, these individuals were more likely to be 

counted in the 2017 PIT than in previous years. While it is difficult to estimate how many of these 

individuals would have likely been undercounted under normal conditions, it is reasonable to 

assume that a significant number were included in the 2017 PIT due to their weather based 

migration. 

Growth in homelessness in the state 
California has the largest homeless population in the US; approximately a quarter of all people 

experiencing homelessness in the country reside in the state (AHAR, 2015).  The state also has the 

highest proportion of chronically homeless individuals—individuals with a disability who have 

experienced prolonged periods of housing instability. These statewide trends reflect a confluence of 

social and economic factors, such as the high cost of living, dearth of affordable housing and a high 

poverty rate. They also highlight that homelessness is a local community issue, nonetheless affected by 

broad statewide dynamics. This is important to consider in light of the above reported increases in the 

2017 PIT estimates.  Indeed, the rise in homelessness between 2015 and 2017 in Sacramento County is 

consistent with similar increases recently reported across the state.  At the time of this writing, a number 

of communities have reported significant increases between their 2015 and 2017 estimates for nightly 

homeless: 

• 39% increase reported in Alameda County (5,629 vs. 4,040). 

• 76% increase reported in Butte County (1,983 vs. 1,127). 

363 

133 

Tents in 2017 Tents in 2015 

Figure 3:Tents Reported 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

27 

• 23% increase reported in Los Angeles County (57,794 vs. 44,359). 

• Little change reported in Yolo County (482 vs. 490). 

• Little change in San Francisco County (7,499 vs. 7,539). 

While not all communities have made their PIT findings public at this time, these early reports suggests 

that HUD will likely find—after aggregating all the PIT data— a significant increase of homelessness in 

California overall, if not the country itself.  

Housing Market 
As discussed above, housing market conditions, and in particular the dearth of affordable housing in the 

region, should be considered as an important contextual factor to the rise in homelessness in 

Sacramento County. Indeed, researchers from the US Dept. of Veteran’s Affairs recently published a 

complex analysis of PIT data aggregated from hundreds of communities across the county, and found 

that rental housing market conditions were the most important factors affecting homelessness, above 

and beyond other factors associated with the poverty rate such as drug use and crime (Byrne et. al 

2013). Their analysis confirms previous findings that rental housing market factors, particularly housing 

costs, are the strongest predictors of homelessness across communities. Specifically, their analysis 

suggests that the proportion of residents who spend more than 30% of their total income on housing 

was strongly predictive of the overall homelessness rate in a community.  These findings are telling given 

recent reports by the Sacramento Housing Alliance that 4 out of 10 residents in Sacramento spend over 

50% of their monthly income on housing (SHA, 2016). Given the recent sharp increases in rental rates in 

Sacramento, and the low stock of affordable housing units in the area, the growth of the homeless 

population is consistent with trends reported by other communities across the county with tight housing 

market conditions. 

Demographics of Unsheltered Homeless  
On the night of the count, volunteers conducted a 

total of 168 survey interviews with individuals who 

were homeless and not sleeping in a shelter. 

Results from these surveys14 indicate that a large 

majority of unsheltered homeless were male (74%) 

and Non-Hispanic (82%). With respect to race, 

approximately half identified as White (52%), and 

a quarter as African American (23%). The 

remaining respondents identified as either multi-

racial (17%), or Native American (6%); very few 

identified as Asian or Pacific-Islander  (less than 2% combined).  

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
14	  As discussed in Section 1, results from the 168 surveys were used to extrapolate the overall demographic 
composition of all unsheltered homeless encountered on January 25th (N=2,052).  Towards this end, CSUS 
computed a two-stage statistical weight for each survey to improve the accuracy of this extrapolation (see Section 1).	  

 1,070  

 481  

 346  

 131  

 24  

 -     300   600   900   1,200  

White 

African-American 

Multiple Races 

Native American 

Asian/Pacific Is. 

Figure 4: Racial Identity of Unsheltered Homeless 



	  
	  

28 

In terms of age, the average respondent was approximately 42 years old.  As the figure below shows, 

however, there was a wide distribution in reported age; respondents were almost evenly distributed 

between the age groups of 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, and 55-64. There were also a small, but notable number 

of very young adults 18-24 (7%).  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 1 on the next page presents the overall demographic estimates for unsheltered homeless, as well 

as compares these estimates to the composition of homeless who accessed shelters on the night of the 

2017 PIT (provided by the HMIS system).	  These comparisons suggest that some groups were more likely 

to be sleeping outdoors on the night of the PIT than others. For example: 

• Males were more likely to be unsheltered than sheltered (e.g., 74 % vs. 57%).  

 

• Homeless who identified as Native American (6% vs. 3%) or Multi-Racial (17% vs. 9%) were more 

likely to be unsheltered than sheltered. 

 

• Individuals who met definitions of chronically homeless were almost twice as likely to be unsheltered 

than sheltered (39% vs. 20%). 

 

More generally, comparing the total homeless population to the demographic composition of 

Sacramento County (US Census, 2015) indicates that some groups experience housing insecurity at a 

disproportionate rate.  These include: 

•  Men (who only represent 49% of the county but comprise 66% of all homeless). 

 

• African Americans (who represent 10% of the county but comprise 30% of all homeless). 

 

• Native Americans (who represent 1% of the county but comprise 5% of all homeless) 

 

7% 

25% 24% 

21% 
23% 

0% 

5% 

10% 

15% 

20% 

25% 

30% 

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 

Figure 5: Age of Unsheltered Homeless 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

29 

• Individuals who identify as multi-racial (who only represent 6% of the county but comprise 13% 

of all homeless) 

 

It is important to note that other 

groups also experience higher levels 

of homelessness, such as LGBT youth, 

veterans and women with children 

(groups that we examine further in the 

next section). Moreover, even though 

some groups have a lower relative 

likelihood of becoming homeless, 

individuals from these groups are not 

immune to these experiences. These 

include: 

• Women (who represent 51% 

of the county but comprise 

only 32% of people 

experiencing homeless). 

 

• Individuals who identify as 

White (who represent 64% of 

the county but comprise only 

50% of people experiencing 

homeless). 

 

• Individuals who identify as 

Asian American (who 

represent 16% of the county 

but comprise only 1% of 

people experiencing 

homeless) 

	    

 
 
 

    
  Unsheltered 

(N=2,052) 
Sheltered 

(N=1,613) 
Total Homeless 

(N=3,665) 
Gender     
   Male* 
 

1,517 
(74%) 

918 
(57%) 

2,435 
(66%) 

   Female 
 

488 
(24%) 

681 
(42%) 

1,169 
(32%) 

   Transgender or Other 
 

47 
(2%) 

14 
(1%) 

61 
(2%) 

Ethnicity    
   Hispanic/Latino* 
 

370 
(18%) 

286 
(18%) 

656 
(82%) 

   Non-Hispanic/Non-Latino 
 

1,682 
(82%) 

1,327 
(82%) 

3,009 
(82%) 

 Race    
   White 
 

1,070 
(52%) 

747 
(46%) 

1,817 
(50%) 

   Black/African American 
 

481 
(23%) 

643 
(40%) 

1,124 
(31%) 

   Asian 
 

14 
(1%) 

10 
(1%) 

24 
(1%) 

   American Indian/Native  
 

131 
(6%) 

48 
(3%) 

179 
(5%) 

   Hawaiian/Pacific Islander 
 

10 
(1%) 

21 
(1%) 

41 
(1%) 

   Multi-Racial* 
 

346 
(17%) 

144 
(9%) 

490 
(13%) 

    
 Chronically Homeless 
 

802 
(39%) 

323 
(20%) 

1,126 
(31%) 

*Statistically significant at p<=.10 

Table 1. 
 2017 PIT Demographic Characteristics  

 



	  
	  

30 

Section 3 Subpopulations 
In this section we delve deeper into the survey results of the 2017 PIT and report on specific homeless 

subpopulations, including the chronically homeless, veterans, and transitional aged youth. We also 

summarize survey results that highlight particular risk factors associated with experiencing homelessness, 

such as being a victim of domestic violence and interaction with the foster care system. 

 

As discussed in the methods section, much of the information that we use to report on persons sleeping 

outdoors (unsheltered homeless) is derived from the 168 survey interviews conducted by volunteers on 

the night of the count. Unlike the visual count data collected by volunteers, survey interviews captured 

detailed and personal demographic information from a subsample of respondents. The results of these 

surveys were extrapolated to the total unsheltered population (N=2,052) using a two-level statistical 

weight (weighted to the count data based on the location in which the interview was conducted, and the 

household composition reported by the respondent).  

 

Readers should note that these estimates contain a certain level of statistical imprecision; lack of perfect 

and complete survey data on every person/household experiencing homelessness means that estimates 

are an approximation of the true number in the community.15 As elaborated in the methods section, 

there may also be biases in the survey results given that most of information is self-reported, and some 

groups may have been more likely than others to decline an interview. Despite these shortcomings, the 

survey results provide a unique glimpse into the situations facing the unsheltered homeless population 

in Sacramento County. To assist readers, we report each estimate in this section with a corresponding 

margin of error, which approximates a general range of possible values that the real number lays within 

to a 90% confidence level.  

Chronically Homeless 
HUD designates individuals as chronically homeless if they meet two conditions, one pertaining to the 

length of time an individual has been homeless and the other to suffering from one of a potential group 

of disabilities. Specifically, a chronically homeless person: 

• Has been continuously homeless for over a year; OR has had four (4) or more episodes of 

homelessness in the past three (3) years.  

 

• AND they have a physical, developmental or mental disability that hinders their ability to 

maintain gainful employment.  

 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
15	  The statistical power of the extrapolation tool was based primarily on the variation and response rates of the 
underlying (survey) data. For many responses, the estimates were fairly precise with little missing data. However, this 
was not the case with smaller population groups – especially groups such as families with children and individuals 
living with HIV/AIDS. For these reasons, CSUS chose to focus our analysis on the subgroups and at-risk behaviors 
with the most data, and took care to examine the underlying distribution of this data for aberrant behavior.	  
	  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

31 

In addition, in 2015 HUD clarified that all individuals within a household should be considered chronically 

homeless if the head of household meets the above criteria 

Individuals who experience chronic patterns of homelessness can often have complex mental health and 

physical disabilities, which complicate their transition into stable housing (NAEH, 2015). Moreover, 

chronic homelessness can deteriorate one’s well being, and lead to disproportionate use of emergency 

resources. Because of these issues, there have been deliberate efforts by the federal government to 

reduce, if not end, chronic homelessness (NAEH, 2015). Reflective of these efforts, HUD has reported a 

steady decline in chronic homelessness around the county since 2007 (the number of people 

experiencing chronic homelessness has declined by approximately third), though more recently 

California saw a slight rise in unsheltered and chronically homeless (AHAR, 2016). Indeed, California 

sadly still retains one of the highest rates of chronic homelessness in the country (approximately 25% of 

homeless experience chronic patterns of housing instability). Moreover, California reports the highest 

proportion of chronically homeless sleeping on the streets (87%) (AHAR, 2016). 

The 2017 PIT indicates that a total 1,126 individuals in Sacramento County experienced chronic patterns 

of homelessness in January (or approximately 31% of the 3,665 total homeless population).  

• As the figure below shows, this represents a substantial increase from 2015, when only 18% of 

the homeless population was indicated as chronically homeless (466 out of 2,659). 

• This suggests that the number of people who are chronically homeless has more than doubled in 

recent years in Sacramento County. 

 

 

 

147 153 
323 

285 313 

803 

0 

200 

400 

600 

800 

1000 

1200 

1400 

2013 2015 2017 

Figure 6:  
Sheltered and Unsheltered Chronically Homeless in the Sacramento 2013-2017 PIT counts  

Sheltered Unsheltered 



	  
	  

32 

 

• The largest increase in the last two years was among people experiencing chronic homelessness 

and sleeping outside on the night of the count. 

o The number of people who were chronically homeless and unsheltered increased from 

313 individuals in 2015 to 803 (with a margin of +/- 67) in 2017.  

 

• The number of people who were indicated as chronically homeless but sheltered on the night of 

the count also experienced a similar, though less steep, growth/ 

o Chronically homeless individuals who were sheltered increased from 153 to 323, 

between 2015 and 2017.  
 

Despite the substantial increase in the number of people in Sacramento experiencing chronic patterns of 

homelessness, the proportion of this group that sleeps outdoors has remained relatively constant during 

the last several years.  

• In 2015 approximately 65% of people experiencing chronic patterns of homelessness were 

reported unsheltered in Sacramento (153 out of 466). This is similar to the approximately 71% of 

chronically homeless who were found outside in 2017 (801 out of 1,125).  

 

This high rate of unsheltered chronic homelessness in Sacramento also seems consistent with broader 

patterns of unsheltered homeless across the state, as discussed above. Specifically, the 31% rate of 

chronically homeless reported in 2017 is slightly closer to the overall 25% rate of chronically homeless in 

California (29,178 out 115,738) than the 18% rate reported in 2015 (AHAR, 2016). 

  

66% 67% 71% 
86% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

2013 Sac. Co. 2015 Sac. Co. 2017 Sac. Co. CA 2015 

Figure 7: 
Percent of Chronically Homeless who are Unsheltred 

Sacramento 2013-2017 PIT 

Sheltered Unsheltered 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

33 

Analysis of surveys conducted with individuals who were unsheltered and indicated as chronically 

homeless show that they share some demographic characteristics with the broader unsheltered 

population in Sacramento. For example:  
 

• The sizable majority of 

chronically homeless were male 

(75%), as were most 

unsheltered homeless (74%). 

 

• Approximately half of all 

unsheltered homeless, 

including chronically homeless, 

identified as White (52%). 

 

• Given the racial composition of 

Sacramento County (see 

Section1) a disproportionate 

percentage of both 

unsheltered, and chronically 

homeless were people of color 

(48%) 

 

• A little less than half (46%) of all 

chronically homeless were 45 

years old or older, similar to 

many unsheltered groups. 

 

Other survey responses suggest that 

the chronically homeless in Sacramento 

are comprised of both individuals who 

are continuously homeless as well as individuals who move regularly back and forth into homelessness. 

For example, when asked how many times they had been homeless in the last three years: 

 

• Approximately a fifth of respondents indicated as chronically homeless (19%) reported that this 

was their “first time homeless,” and that they had been homeless for over a year. 

o Among these first-time homeless, the average number of months homeless was 22.5 

months. 

o Two-thirds of these first-time homeless claimed that they had been continuously 

homeless for over 36 months. 

 

   

  

Chronic 
Unsheltered 

(N=803) 

All 
Unsheltered 
(N=2,052) 

          Gender   

Male 75% 74% 

Female 25% 24% 

Transgender or Other 0% 2% 

   

 Race    

White 52% 52% 

Black/African American 21% 23% 

Asian 1% 1% 

American Indian/Native  8% 6% 

Hawaiian/ Pacif Islander 1% 1% 

Multi-Racial 18% 17% 

   

  Age    

18-24 8% 7% 

25-34 26% 25% 

35-44 20% 24% 

45-54 24% 21% 

55-65 22% 23% 

65+ 

 

0% 

 

0% 

 

 

Table 2. 
Demographic Characteristics of  

Unsheltered Chronic Homeless vs. All Unsheltered Homeless 



	  
	  

34 

 

• Approximately 10% of respondents reported that they had been homeless two to three times in 

the past three years. 

o On average these episodes of homelessness averaged 7 to 11 months, according to 

respondents. 

 

• Approximately 35% of respondents described experiencing homelessness “four or more times” 

during the past three years. 

o When asked to add all the times they had been homeless across these episodes, 

respondents reported that they had been homeless 12 to 24 months (average of 18.1 

months).  

 

• The remaining respondents (approximately 37%) reported that they had been homeless the 

“entire time” over the last three years. 

 

More generally, 67% of people indicated as chronically homeless reported being continuously homeless 

close to three years, while 35% percent indicated more episodic periods of housing instability (i.e., “four 

or more times”) during this time. These groups likely face different challenges and life situations, and 

highlight the need for various types of housing interventions. Indeed, individuals who reported 

continuous homelessness tended to be substantially older and were often encountered in encampments 

near the American River Parkway, in contrast to younger homeless who were interviewed nearer 

downtown Sacramento.16 Older individuals indicated as chronically homeless – between 55 and 64 – 

were also more likely (a 70% probability) to report a military past (veteran status) or suffer from a 

disabling medical condition.  

 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
16	  25-34 year olds had a 60% chance of reporting that they sleep on the “street or sidewalk,” while 55-64 year olds 
were as likely to report sleeping in the “woods or encampments	  

First time 
19% 

2-3 times 
9% 

4+ times 
35% 

Entire time 
37% 

Figure 8: 
Number of times homeless during the past 3yrs 

Among Chronically Homeless  
 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

35 

As the figure below shows, people indicated as chronically homeless were also more likely to report 

suffering from PTSD than the other unsheltered homeless (54% compared to 46%), and more likely to 

indicate a mental health condition (64% compared to 57%).  

 

In addition to asking about their various afflictions, the survey also directly asked respondents to identify 

the specific condition that prevents them from working. Individuals indicated as chronically homeless 

most commonly cited a disabling mental health condition (55%), followed by a physical disability (33%), 

or ongoing medical condition (33%) that kept them from finding work. Additionally, 27% said they 

couldn’t work because of a substance abuse problem. 

 

Among veterans who reported chronic periods of homelessness, PTSD and ongoing medical conditions 

(such as a traumatic brain injury) were the most commonly cited disabilities preventing them from work. 

As we discuss next, the substantial growth in the number of veterans experiencing homelessness 

seemed interrelated with the rise of chronic homelessness more broadly in the community.	   

  

	    

46% 

34% 

57% 

56% 

32% 

54% 

35% 

64% 

58% 

67% 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 

PTSD 

Medical Condition 

Mental Health 

Drug Use 

Entire Time Homeless 

Figure: 9  
Conditions Among Chronically Homelss vs. All Unsheltered Homeless 

Chronically Homeless All Unsheltered 



	  
	  

36 

Veterans 
Although rates of homelessness among veterans have recently declined in the United States (as much as 

47% in the last six years; AHAR 2016), individuals with a military background remain at higher risk of 

homelessness than civilian populations (NAEH, 2016). The effects of trauma, difficulty re-adjusting to 

civilian life, and higher rates of substance use, are all thought to contribute to the difficulties of obtaining 

employment and affordable housing (NAEH, 2016; Tsai & Rosenheck, 2015).  Like chronic homelessness, 

the rate of veteran homelessness in California is one of the highest in the country (approximately 8%, or 

9,612 out of 118,142). Moreover, homeless veterans in California are more likely to be sleeping outdoors 

than in other parts of the country; two-thirds (65%) of homeless veterans in the country are typically 

found in shelters, but in California the rate is closer to 44% (AHAR, 2016). 

 

The 2017 PIT indicates that 469 veterans in Sacramento County experienced homelessness 

(approximately 13% of the 3,665 total homeless). 

 

• As the figure below shows, this represents a 50% increase in absolute numbers from 2015, when 

313 of the homeless population were identified as veterans. Even with this increase the relative 

percentage of veterans in 2015  (12% out of 2,659) is approximately equal to the 13% found in 

2017  

 
• An estimated 327 veterans (with a margin of error of +/- 33 individuals) were unsheltered in 

2017, compared to the 142 encountered in shelters. 

o Since 2013 the number of veterans in shelters decreased by 17%, while the number of 

unsheltered veterans more than doubled. 

166 171 142 

136 142 

327 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

2013 2015 2017 

Figure 10:  
Sheltered, and unsheltered Veterans in 2013, 2015, and 2017 Sacramento PIT counts.  

Sheltered Unsheltered 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

37 

o Approximately 70% of Veterans were unsheltered in the 2017 PIT, compared to 45% in 

2015. 

 

These figures suggest homeless veterans in Sacramento County are now more likely to be unsheltered 

than sheltered.  

With respect to the broader demographic composition of all homeless veterans (both sheltered and 

unsheltered), most were non-Hispanic, white males over 40 years old. Veterans tended to be older than 

other homeless, and more likely to report long continuous periods of homelessness (as opposed to 

episodic).17 Most were also more likely to report sleeping by themselves as opposed to in a group.  

Comparing the demographic composition of sheltered to unsheltered homeless veterans indicates that 

non-White veterans were more likely to be sleeping outdoors (unsheltered) than homeless veterans who 

identified as White. 

• Specifically, Hispanic veterans (23% vs. 

11%), American Indian/Native American 

veterans (13% vs. 1%), and individuals who 

identified as Multi-Racial (13% vs. 6%) were 

all more likely to be unsheltered than 

sheltered.  
 

• Female veterans were also more likely to be 
sleeping outside than in a shelter (24% vs. 
8%), as well as veterans who identified as 
transgender. 
 

• In contrast, African Americans were more 
likely to be in a shelter than sleep outdoors 
(12% vs. 33%). 
 

In addition to these demographic differences, the 
most salient contrast between sheltered and 
unsheltered veterans was the self-reported level of 
chronic homelessness 
 
In particular, survey results suggest that 57% of 
veterans who were unsheltered were chronically homeless at the time of the 2017 PIT (compared to 18% 
of sheltered homeless veterans). 
 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
17	  Over 65% of veterans interviewed were between 35 and 54, and many reported being homeless for over 36 
months.  Given this, it is likely that many of the veterans are years out of their service period and have been 
homeless on multiple occasions. This is borne out in the data, in that veterans are roughly twice as likely to have 
reported being homeless 4 or more times in the past year than other homeless groups.	  

 
 
 

   

  
Unsheltered 

(n=327) 
Sheltered 
(n=142) 

Gender    
Male 73% 92% 
Female* 24% 8% 

   Transgender or Other* 3% 0% 
    
Ethnicity    

Hispanic/Latino* 23% 11% 
Non-Hispanic/Non-Latino 77% 89% 
    

              Race    
White 59% 57% 
Black/African American* 12% 33% 
Asian 3% 1% 

    American Indian/Native * 13% 1% 
Hawaiian/ Pacif. Islander 0% 1% 
 Multi-Racial* 13% 6% 
   
 Chronically Homeless* 57% 18% 
    

*Statistically significant at p<=.10 

Table 3.  

Demographic Characteristics of  

Sheltered Veterans vs. Unsheltered Veterans  



	  
	  

38 

Even among other unsheltered groups, veterans reported the highest rate of chronic homelessness. 
 

Interestingly, veterans and non-veteran group reported 

similar duration times for being homeless. 
 

•  Approximately 28% of veterans had been 

homeless for 12 months or less, compared to 22% 

of the total homeless population. 

 

• 60% of both veterans and non-veterans had been 

homeless for three or more years.  

 
However, veterans reported more significant health and 

disability challenges than other homeless populations, in 

particular severe conditions that prevented them from 

employment and which contributed to their higher rates 

of chronic homelessness. 

 

• 65% of veterans reported a mental or physical 

disability, compared to 57% and 41% among 

other unsheltered individuals.  

 

• Though a relatively high percentage of survey 

respondents indicated they suffered from PTSD 

(46%) in 2017, this proportion was considerably 

higher for veterans (65%).  

 

• In addition, while 55% of unsheltered veterans reported suffering from a medical condition – 

compared to 34% of other unsheltered homeless – there was a significantly greater chance 

among veterans (90%) that they would cite the medical condition as preventing them from 

working.  

 

• Veterans who reported suffering from PTSD were also very likely to indicate suffering from a 

traumatic brain injury (90% chance) and to report being homeless for the first time (80% chance).  

 

More generally, it is clear that veterans report significantly higher rates of debilitating conditions – which 

are major factors underpinning their higher rate of chronic homelessness.  Despite these high level of 

needs, however, only 26% said they access VA facilities.  

 
 
 

  

 
Unsheltered 

(N=327) 
                  Time homeless   

1-5 Months 18% 
6-11 Months 10% 
12-17 Months 6% 
18-23 Months 3% 
24-29 Months 0% 
30-35 Months 3% 
36+ Months 60% 

  
                  Afflictions   

Severe Physical Disability 36% 
Severe Medical Condition 55% 
Severe Mental Health 31% 
Traumatic Brain Injury 54% 
PTSD 65% 
Drug Use 56% 
Severe Drug Use 13% 

  
   Chronically Homeless 57% 
  

 

Table 4. 
Time Homeless and Reported Disabilities  

Among Veterans Experiencing Homelessness 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

39 

Examining correlations between survey results, in conjunction with how respondents reported their 

demographic status, revealed other notable relationships: 

 
• Veterans who reported living primarily in the woods had a 80% chance to also report living alone 

and more than a 95% chance to say they were between 55-64.  These older veterans were more 

likely to report regular drug use (72%) and report being chronically homeless (67%).18 

 

• In contrast, veterans that reported living on the streets had a 52% chance of being between 25-

34 and a 63% chance of being homeless between 1-6 months. 

 

• Younger veterans were also more likely to be homeless for the first time (a 90% chance for those 

between 25-34) and to be living in a two-person household (65% chance). Female veterans, on 

the other hand, were often found in two-person households with a non-veteran (90% chance). 

They are also often homeless for the first time (60% chance) while male veterans are more likely 

to be homeless the entirety of the previous three years (69% chance). 

 

 
 

  

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
18	  This could be one explanatory factor for the significant increase in the unsheltered veteran status, as more 
volunteers in 2017 were sampling less-densely populated areas of Sacramento County than in previous years due to 
the flooding mentioned earlier.	  

46% 

56% 

34% 

41% 

65% 

56% 

55% 

62% 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 

PTSD  

Drug Use 

Medical Condition 

Physical Disability 

Figure: 11  
Health Conditions Among Veteran vs. all Unsheltered Homeless 

Veterans All Unsheltered 



	  
	  

40 

Transitional Age Youth 
Early adulthood—roughly defined as the age period between 18 and 25—is a time when young people 

navigate a number of life transitions related to their changing status as adults. During a relatively short 

phase of the life course, young people manage multiple changes with respect to their housing, 

education, employment, relationships, partnerships, family as well as cognitive development. Because 

many of these transitions occur under uncertain and changing circumstances, young adults often 

experience heightened levels of stress and instability during this phase of life. A growing body of 

research shows that how well a young person manages this transitional period has far-reaching 

consequences throughout the life course—consequences related to socioeconomic status, family 

structure and well being  (Shanahan 2000; Hayward & Gorman 2004).  In addition, many young people 

today rely on financial and social supports from their families and social networks for extended periods 

of time. 

 

Policymakers and researchers have recently emphasized, however, that young people from 

disadvantaged backgrounds (particularly those who have experienced conflict and/or maltreatment from 

their families) often have few social and economic resources to draw upon during this turbulent and 

critical phase of life. Young adults who face such social disadvantages (generally categorized as 

“transitional age youth”—or TAY) are much more likely to experience housing insecurity and struggle to 

maintain stable income (Osgood, Foster & Courtney 2010). Moreover, if a transitional age youth 

becomes homeless they are less likely to pursue their education/career ambitions, and maintain gainful 

employment (Courtney 2009).  They are also, unfortunately, more at risk to experience incarceration, 

victimization and diminished wellbeing (Osgood et al. 2010).  

 

The 2017 PIT indicates that 242 unaccompanied TAY in Sacramento County experienced homelessness 

(approximately 6% of the 3,665 total homeless). 

 

• As the figure below shows, this represents a 20% decrease from 2015, when 303 of the 

homeless population were identified as TAY (11% out of 2,659).  

 

153 124 

150 
118 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

2015 2017 

Figure 12:  
Sheltered, and unsheltered TAY in 2013 & 2017 Sacramento PIT counts.  

Sheltered Unsheltered 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

41 

 
• Both sheltered and unsheltered TAY showed significant decline between 2017 and 2015 

o An estimated 118 unaccompanied TAY (with a margin of error of +/- 30 individuals) were 

unsheltered in 2017, which is a 21% decline from the 150 reported in 2015. 

o An estimated 124 young adults were indicated in shelters and transitional housing, 

which is a 19% decline from the 153 reported in 2015. 

 

• However, because of the small size of this group, and the relative large margin of error, the 

decrease in unsheltered TAY may be modest 

o There were approximately 2 to 62 fewer youth sleeping on the streets in 2017 compared 

to 2015. 

 
While these trends are positive, and potentially illustrative of progress being made in Sacramento 

County toward addressing youth homelessness, there is also a strong likelihood that these estimates 

may be undercounts. One issue is simply the fact young adults are much more likely to experience 

episodes of homelessness, as opposed to continuous periods. Single point-in-time designs are 

inherently biased toward over-sampling individuals with longer periods of homelessness (as they more 

likely to be homeless during the time of the study).  Another methodological concern is that young 

people experiencing housing instability often “couch surf” with friends, which is a form of housing 

instability not captured by the PIT design. Homeless youth are also reportedly less likely to be found in 

typical homeless locations frequented by adults, or to engage with adult volunteers more generally.19 

 
With respect to surveys completed by transitional aged youth, the following patterns emerged: 
 

• The majority of young adults reported having some sort of mental illness (54%) or PTSD (64%), 

even though physical disabilities (12%), medical disabilities (7%), and drug use (19%) are all 

significantly lower than the general unsheltered population (41%, 34%, and 56% respectively). 

 

• Twenty-two percent (22%) of transitional age youth had been homeless 4 or more different 

times. 

 

• Ninety-one percent (91%) of transitional age youth had been homeless for the last three years. 

  

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
19 Because of these reasons HUD has encouraged CoCs to target their efforts to collect additional, and more 

accurate information, on the number of young adults experiencing homelessness in their respective communities. 

Towards this end, SSF has collaborated with local advocacy and service organizations that work explicitly with 

homeless young adults, to improve outreach to this population as well as to enhance canvasing during the PIT. In 

2017 SSF also hired TAY individuals to participate in the count and conduct surveys with their peers.  While 

methodologies are still improving, HUD has announced that estimates reported on the 2017 PIT will serve as the 

baseline, initial comparison year to assess progress that communities make toward addressing youth homelessness.  

	  



	  
	  

42 

Other Risk Factors 
Responses from the PIT survey also highlighted a number of interrelated risk factors associated with 

experiencing or complicating homelessness, such as interaction with the foster care system, being a 

victim of domestic violence, and families with children. In this section, we briefly review some of the key 

findings from the survey that shed light on these experiences in the context of Sacramento County.  

Former Foster Youth 
Young people aging out of the foster care system often fit the definition of a transitional-age youth 

facing various social disadvantages (Osgood, Foster & Courtney 2010). Foster youth often lack access to 

stable family and social networks, and many have complex needs related to trauma and past 

maltreatment (Courtney 2009). While California has made considerable progress extending support to 

young people transitioning out of the foster care system (e.g., passage of Assembly Bill 12) former 

“system youth” still face elevated risk for experiencing homelessness during young adulthood and 

beyond. One often cited PIT study in Minnesota (Wilder, 2006) estimated that nearly half of the 

homeless population in the state had some experience in the foster care system. While estimates of 

homelessness among foster youth vary widely, past PIT studies have suggested between 20% to 30% of 

homeless individuals have interacted with the child welfare system.  

 

In the 2017 PIT survey, 22% of respondents identified themselves as having experience in the foster care 

system (estimate 455 out of 2,052).  

 
Examining the survey results from these individual 

revealed the following: 

 
• Homelessness was experienced at a 

variety of ages by former foster youth. 

While 30% were aged 34 or younger, 60% 

were 35 years or older. 

o More than half, 58% had been 

homeless for the past three years 

o Approximately one-third (33%) 

had been homeless four or more 

times in the past three years. 

 
• The vast majority of unsheltered homeless former foster youth were male (85%). 

 
• The majority of unsheltered homeless former foster youth were White (57%), with the next 

highest percentages multi-racial (15%) and African-American (12%). 
 

• Almost one-half (49%) of unsheltered homeless former foster youth were suffering from post-
traumatic stress disorder.  

 

Former 
Foster 
youth 
455 
22% 

Figure 13: Former Foster Youth 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

43 

• More than one-half (56%) of former foster youth were dealing with a mental health disorder 

Victims of Domestic Violence 
Domestic violence is common in the United States (NCADV, 2015). Victims of domestic violence are 

susceptible to homelessness because of missed work, job loss, and behavioral, physical, or mental health 

issues related to the abuse (NCADV, 2015).  It is also assumed that individuals fleeing a domestic 

violence situation face precarious housing options, as their departure from their home was often abrupt 

and unplanned.  

 
In the 2017 PIT survey, 4% of responses indicated that they had left their last place due to violence from 

a partner or family member (estimate of 90 

out of 2,052).  

 
• While a slight majority of victims of 

domestic violence were women (59%), 

a sizable percentage was men (41%). 

 

• Approximately half of victims of 

domestic violence reported a 

diagnosis of post-traumatic stress 

disorder or some sort of physical 

disability (52%), while a majority 

reported suffering from some sort of 

mental disability (69%). 

 

• A majority (67%) of victims of domestic violence reported experiencing homelessness for the 

entirety of the previous three years. 

 
Victims of domestic violence are more likely than the general homeless population to report at-risk 

behaviors across all measures, which demonstrates that these individuals are – as expected – a 

particularly high-needs group. On average, victims of domestic violence are 6% more likely to report 

suffering from mental, physical, or medical disabilities (including PTSD) than those who were not victims 

of domestic violence.  

Families with Children 
Though homelessness in the US has shown substantial decline in the last ten years—with perhaps some 

notable exceptions this year in California—the number of homeless families with children has not 

followed this broader trend. In particular, single-headed households with 2-3 children have seen some 

modest increases during the past decade. Accounting for homeless families, however, remains 

methodologically difficult. Like transitional aged youth, this population is likely undercounted in the 

unsheltered portion of the count. 

Men 
48% 

Women 
52% 

Figure 14:  
Gender & Victims of Domestic Violence 



	  
	  

44 

 
The 2017 PIT indicates that 186 families with at least one child in Sacramento County experienced 

homelessness in January, and the vast majority of these families stayed in shelters. 

 

• 180 families, comprising of a total 572 individuals, were in shelters or transitional housing on 

January 25 

o Families represented 36% of all homeless accessing shelters in 2017, which is a slight 

decline from 2015, when they represented 45% of the shelter population. 

 

• Considering both sheltered and unsheltered families (of which there were very few) indicates 

there has been a 25% decrease in the number of families from 2015, when 238 homeless 

families were reported (10% out of 2,659).  

 

• The 589 individuals in these families represent approximately 16% of the 3,665 total homeless. 

 

• The majority of homeless families were single-parent families, with an average of 2 or more 

children. However, there was insufficient survey data from families to explore further 

demographic statistics. 

 

As was the case in 2015, 95% of homeless families in 2017 were reported from the shelter HMIS data; 

only 6 homeless families with children were identified during the unsheltered count in 2017. Researchers 

from the previous 2015 PIT employed a day-after service approach in an effort to record more homeless 

families leaving shelters on the day following the night count, but researchers reported only 5 additional 

families overall (11 total unsheltered families were recorded that year). While the day-after service was 

not possible in 2017 due to logistic challenges, it is not apparent that this had much substantial impact 

on estimates.   

 

While it is reasonable to assume that homeless families make concerted efforts to stay in shelters as 

opposed to sleeping outdoors, it is nonetheless likely that the PIT methodology is systematically 

undercounting unsheltered families staying in vehicles and tents. In particular, volunteers are trained not 

to attempt interviews with individuals in parked cars or groups sleeping in their tents. While these 

guidelines are reasonable precautions, as well as courteous, they undoubtedly bias survey estimates. 

Future PIT researchers may want to consider a different sampling approach, or conduct a separate study 

to estimate the proportion of tents and cars that are, on average, occupied by families. 

 
 
 
 
 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

45 

Section 4 Geo-Spatial Analysis of the 2017 PIT 
In this section we present a geo-spatial analysis of the 2017 PIT data, and report how the unsheltered 

homeless population is likely distributed across the county. Specifically, we estimate an approximate 

number of unsheltered homeless within each incorporated city in the county, and within the surrounding 

unincorporated areas.  We also provide GIS maps of the distribution of unsheltered homeless across 

Sacramento County more broadly. For these analyses, we incorporate additional information beyond 

what was collected on the night of the 2017 PIT.  Supplemental data include: 

• Additional count data collected the same week as the 2017 PIT, but not on the same night. 

 

• Extrapolated estimates for 70 regions not sampled on the night of the 2017 PIT 

 

Incorporating this information allows us to broaden our 2017 PIT estimates to cover areas that were not 

canvassed by volunteers on the night of the count. However, readers should note that these analyses are 

based on statistical extrapolation as opposed to the census methodology of the PIT, and are therefore 

more speculative in nature than other results presented (see Appendix for a summary of the enumeration 

process). Nonetheless, the following results provide an additional general depiction of how 

homelessness is distributed across the county as can be seen in the following table and figures. 

Estimates by City 
We first present the estimated distribution of unsheltered homeless across the county; the below chart 

shows the estimated proportion of unsheltered homeless by city (dark green bar), in contrast to an area’s 

relative population proportion (tan color bar) (Census, 2015). In addition, the table on the following page 

provides the specific estimates by city, as well as the different data sources included in these estimates. 

	    

1% 

1% 

1% 

4% 

7% 

8% 

18% 

61% 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 

Galt 

Isleton 

Elk Grove 

Folsom 

Rancho Cordova 

Citrus Heights 

Unincorporated 

Sacramento 

Figure 15: 
Estimated Distribution of Homeless by City vs. Population Proportion 

Homeless Proportion County Proportion 



	  
	  

46 

Table 5. 

 City Estimates 

 

Unsurprisingly, the areas with the largest percentages of county population (Sacramento and the 

Unincorporated Areas) also saw the largest percentages of homeless (61% and 18%, respectively). 

Interestingly, these percentages are almost exact inverses in terms of their relationship to the actual 

population percentages – about twice as many homeless are found in downtown (with a population 

share of 34%), while about half as many homeless are found in the unincorporated areas (with a 

population share of 38%). Rancho Cordova, Citrus Heights, and Folsom had homeless populations 

roughly equal to their county population shares, as did Galt and Isleton (though these numbers are 

insignificant). While the results from Sacramento City and the unincorporated areas are not surprising – 

many more volunteers were sent to zones in downtown than in the unincorporated areas, and downtown 

is much easier to traverse – it is not immediately clear why Elk Grove has such a smaller homeless 

population relative to its county population. This will be an interesting finding to keep in mind for future 

PIT counts.  

  

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
20	  Since the extrapolated counts are formed by using single regional averages, there is less variation in the 
predicted scores than the actual scores. Therefore, these margins are not actually as accurate as those reported for 
the sampled scores.	  

Area 2017 PIT 
Count 

Extrap. 
Count 

Post PIT 
Count 

Total Count Margin of 
Error20 

Homeless 
Prop. 

County 
Prop. 

Citrus Heights 188 51 0 239 +/- 28 8% 6% 

Elk Grove 18 22 0 40 +/- 4 1% 11% 

Folsom 0 118 4 122 +/- 6 4% 5% 

Galt 0 0 5 5 - 0% 2% 

Isleton 0 0 5 5 - 0% >1% 

Rancho Cordova 76 136 0 212 +/- 25 7% 5% 

Sacramento 1,400 284 95 1,779 +/- 101 61% 34% 

Unincorporated 370 162 0 532 +/- 55 18% 38% 

Total 2052 773 109 2,934 +/- 121 100% 100% 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

47 

GIS Maps 
Figure 15: 

 Spatial Distribution County Map 

 

As with most spatially defined data, one of the best mechanisms for understanding patterns in homeless 

population density is through GIS mapping. The above map provides a clear picture of many of the 

trends we have discussed throughout this report. In this image, the light blue outlined space is the 

Sacramento City boundaries, while the counted (and estimated) populations are represented by a color 

and size gradation – so that the larger bright red circles represent high-density zones and the smaller 

grey and black circles represent low-density zones.  

As previously mentioned, Sacramento and the surrounding areas saw a record-breaking winter weather 

system that caused severe flooding – especially around the cresting American River. The map shows 

that, especially in the length between Rosemont and Folsom, volunteers found very few homeless in 

most of the areas situated next to the river. Indeed, with the exception of Rancho Cordova, spatial 

patterns strongly suggest that homeless individuals were pushed north into the less densely populated 

unincorporated areas of Sacramento County. In future PITs, it is expected that many more homeless 

individuals will return to areas near the river – a trend that will be particularly interesting to investigate. 



	  
	  

48 

Figure 16:  

Spatial Distribution Downtown Sacramento Map 

	  

Focusing on downtown Sacramento, one can also clearly see concentrations of individuals being pushed 

further north and south from the river’s edge. This is especially true near Discovery Park and the State 

Fairgrounds – two areas that saw the largest impact from the floods. The areas near Richards Boulevard 

and El Camino Avenue saw significant numbers of homeless individuals in tents, which further illustrates 

the impact of the flooding on migrating homeless communities. It is also evident a large portion of the 

homeless population in Sacramento is found in the midtown corridor, and along the main highways. In 

the midtown corridor, specifically between K and Capitol and from 23rd to 26th streets, there are four 

large churches for homeless individuals to find shelter. Between P and R streets from 19th to 23rd there 

are also large warehouses and structures under which homeless individuals can find shelter – particularly 

near the Safeway, the Light Rail stop, and the Sacramento Bee offices. As expected, there is a dense 

population of homeless individuals near the Capitol and Caser Chavez park. Along the main highways, 

there are a number large parking structures beneath the overpasses as well as sections between X and 

Broadway that see little regular foot traffic. These areas are ideal spaces for homeless individuals to take 

shelter during inclement weather.   



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

49 

Extrapolated vs. Sampled Zones 
Interestingly, the extrapolated data suggests that many of the zones that were not sampled on the night 

of the 2017 PIT would have yielded relatively low count numbers if they had been; many extrapolated 

zones yielded relatively few additional homeless compared to the actual zones sampled.  About a 

quarter of the non-sampled zones had extrapolated values of 0 or 1.  In other words, the analysis 

suggests that the 72 zones for the 2017 PIT likely accounted for the majority of potential homeless in 

Sacramento County. Even though more zones could have been deployed (if more volunteers were 

present), there is likely a decline in the “return on investment” for researchers to sample a large 

collection of zones for the PIT. While the PIT Count would benefit from more volunteers and more 

covered zones, it is unlikely that having more than 100 sampled zones on the night of the PIT would 

provide significant new information on the distribution of homeless individuals in the county.  

	    



	  
	  

50 

Section 5 Conclusions and Recommendations 
In this last section of the report, we review the overall findings of the 2017 PIT and draw parallels 

between trends found in Sacramento County and those reported across the state. We also briefly review 

the methodological changes and challenges of the 2017 PIT, and suggest recommendations for the 

2019 PIT. Lastly, we discuss recent trends in Sacramento County – particularly trends in the housing 

market – which may be correlated with the reported increase in homelessness in the area. We believe 

these data, in conjunction with the 2017 PIT findings, point to a number of issues to consider for policy 

makers, services providers, and others interested in reducing homelessness in Sacramento.  

In this 2017 PIT report, we found a significant increase in the number of residents in Sacramento County 

who experienced homelessness on a nightly basis.  

• Since 2015, we estimate a real growth in nightly homelessness of approximately 30% (from 

2,822 individuals to 3,665), with a more pronounced growth among people who are 

experiencing homelessness and sleeping outdoors (from 1,111 to 2,052; or 85% increase). 

 

Because of the disproportionate increase in unsheltered homeless—individuals who tend to have higher 

and more immediate needs than those in a shelter or transitional housing—the 2017 PIT also saw a sharp 

rise of particular at-risk groups.  

• We estimate that approximately 31% of the homeless in Sacramento County are chronically 

homeless (that is, they have experienced prolonged bouts of housing instability and are 

disabled), which is a substantial increase from the 18% rate reported in 2015.  Most of this 

growth, however, was among chronically homeless who sleep outdoors, who are the majority in 

this group (803 out of 1,126). 

  

• We also found a 50% increase in the number of veterans experiencing homelessness since 2015 

(313 to 469). Notably, our estimates suggest that the majority of homeless veterans are 

unsheltered (69%). 

  

While the overall significant increases in homelessness in 2017 are concerning, the patterns of 

homelessness found in Sacramento County are nonetheless consistent with statewide trends reported in 

2015.  

• The proportion of the unsheltered population estimated by the 2017 PIT (56%) aligns with 

California’s 2015 average of 66%.  

 

• Similarly, the 2017 the rate of chronic homelessness (31%) is closer to the 25% California rate 

than the 18% reported in 2015. 

 

• The proportion of unsheltered veterans (69%) found in 2017 is also more consistent to the state 

average of 66% than what was reported in 2015 (47%).  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

51 

And while the majority of communities have yet to release their 2017 reports, the few that have indicate 

similar increases in homelessness since 2015 as found in Sacramento County: 39% increase in Alameda 

County, 76% increase in Butte County, and a 23% increase in Los Angeles County.    

In this report, we also discussed a number of contextual factors that likely contributed to the general 

increase in estimates.  These include improvements in methodology, but also severe weather and 

flooding that likely resulted in significant migration of homeless encampments to areas more regularly 

sampled in the Sacramento PIT Counts. Indeed, the spatial analysis of the 2017 PIT data show clear 

patterns of concentration of homeless in areas near the American River Parkway that were not flooded. 

In contrast to the general upward trend, we also report that some populations saw little change in the 

2017 PIT. Estimates for transitional age youth (TAY) declined slightly as did those from families with 

children (approximately 20% each), but the relatively small sizes of these two populations make them 

difficult to assess accurately from year-to-year (small errors in counting have a relatively larger impact 

estimating those groups). In addition, TAY and families are also methodologically difficult to capture with 

the PIT methodology of sampling and canvassing. Nonetheless, it is notable that these two groups did 

not increase, while other subpopulations did, and that declines were present in both the sheltered and 

unsheltered count. 

As the PIT count methodology incorporates hundreds of surveys with individuals not using the shelter 

system, this report also offered a unique glimpse into the experiences of persons sleeping outdoors.  

Results from the 2017 survey point to a number of notable findings on subpopulations, including:  

• People experiencing chronically periods of homelessness are more likely to suffer from PTSD 

than the general unsheltered homeless group (54% compared to 46%), and more likely to have a 

mental condition of any type (64% compared to 57%).  

 

• Older individuals indicated as chronically homeless  – between 55 and 64 – had a 70% chance to 

also be a veteran or report suffering from a disabling medical condition. 

 

• Veterans experiencing homelessness were more likely to report a mental or physical disability 

than other groups (65% compared to 41%-57%). While 46% of unsheltered homeless reported 

suffering from PTSD, this number was 65% for veterans. Veterans and those suffering from PTSD 

had a 90% chance of reporting difficulty finding a job due to their chronic condition.  

 

• The majority of TAY individuals also indicated some sort of mental illness (54%) or PTSD (64%), 

even though physical disabilities (12%), medical disabilities (7%), and drug use (19%) are all 

significantly lower than the general unsheltered population (41%, 34%, and 56% respectively).  

 

• 22% of respondents identified themselves as having experience in the foster care system 

(estimate 455 out of 2,052). Interestingly, most of these individuals (65%) were older than 35, 



	  
	  

52 

though some were also young adults. Among former foster youth, almost half (49%) reported 

suffering from PTSD. 

Methodology Recommendations 

Given our experiences conducting the 2017 PIT analyses, the CSUS team suggests the following 

methodological changes for future PIT counts.  

1. Increase data sharing with local law enforcement. In 2017, CSUS used “calls for service” data 

provided by the Sacramento County Sheriff’s Department to establish PIT sampling zones within 

the unincorporated regions of the county. Making use of this additional data allowed researchers 

to more accurately predict where individuals experiencing homelessness might be found on the 

night of the PIT count. Similar data from the Sacramento City Police Department (and other 

incorporated cities) could be useful to supplement future PIT pre-mapping stages.  

 

2. Use technology to increase survey response rates. It is notoriously difficult to survey 

individuals experiencing homelessness and sleeping outdoors, both due to the challenges of 

interviewing someone in a difficult situation, but also the obstacle of recording data accurately at 

night. By carrying tablets or electronic devices, volunteers would have a better and easier tool 

for documenting responses data in a systematic way. They could also use these devices to better 

record where individuals are counted with GPS coordinates. Having this data automatically 

stored electronically would also result in considerable efficiency in the data analysis stage of the 

project, as well as improve the overall accuracy of results. 
 

3. More engagement with youth populations. Transition age youth (TAY) who experience 

homelessness face a unique set of risk factors. Accurate data on the TAY community in 

Sacramento PIT, however, continues to be limited. Despite efforts this year to engage homeless 

youth through volunteer training and hiring of youth surveyors, it is likely that this group may 

have been significantly undercounted. Moreover, some of the 2017 surveys done with youth 

showed some inconsistencies, which limited our ability to fully analyze this data. As we discuss 

below, we recommend that all surveys, including those with youth, be administered by a subset 

of volunteers who receive additional training in survey methods (these could include specific 

youth volunteers, county social workers, or CSUS MSW students). In addition, SSF and 

researchers should continue to work and collaborate with advocacy and service organizations to 

explore better ways to identify areas where homeless youth reside. While methodologies are still 

improving, it should be noted that HUD has announced that estimates reported on the 2017 PIT 

will serve as the baseline, initial comparison year to assess progress that communities make 

toward addressing youth homelessness.  
 

4. Additional training of surveyors. Our estimates and analyses of specific subpopulations (such 

as the number of individuals experiencing chronic homelessness or who are veterans) are only as 

accurate as the surveys collected. As discussed above, some of the surveys in 2017 showed 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

53 

inconsistencies, which challenged our analysis of specific subpopulations.  Moreover, the overall 

number of survey responses (N=168) relative the counted data (N=2,052) is a significant concern 

for the Sacramento County PIT. While volunteer groups are given some training in approaching 

homeless individuals and administering these surveys, it is reasonable to assume that some 

volunteers were not comfortable conducting surveys with individuals experiencing 

homelessness. For these reasons, we recommend that SFF designate a specific subset of 

volunteers to conduct surveys on the next PIT. This specific subset of volunteers could receive 

additional training in survey methods as well as on how to engage vulnerable individuals more 

generally. Moreover, we recommend SSF consider recruiting individuals who have experience in 

the social service fields (such as county social workers) as well as graduate students at CSUS (i.e., 

CSUS MSW students).  CSUS could also provide additional training in survey methods. Finally, 

we recommend that surveys also be administered within shelters themselves on the night of the 

county, to improve the comparative analyses of sheltered vs. unsheltered groups. 

With respect to the survey tool itself, we recommend the following topics be included that go beyond 

those suggested by HUD guidelines. 

5. LGBTQ Population. The survey tool currently does not ask about LGBTQ status, as no questions 

directly ask about a respondent’s sexuality (though HUD did include new questions this year 

about transgender status and gender identity). It is well known that LGBTQ persons, especially 

youth, face a unique set of circumstances in regards to high-risk factors and transience. While 

there are some complications in asking respondents about intimate details, such questions can 

be done sensitively and with respect. Specifically, researchers and SSF could consult with a local 

organization like the Gender Health Center and/or the CARES clinic, to design specific prompts 

and protocols to explore these issues.  

 

6. Reason for Homelessness and Transience. The significant increase in homelessness is difficult 

to explain without further data about how and why individuals found themselves experiencing 

housing instability on the night of the PIT count. Some of this information is already collected 

through the assessments conducted by SSF Navigators, and could be explored through an 

analysis of HMIS data. But some of these issues could also be explored further with PIT surveys 

that ask respondents to self-identify factors that contributed to their homelessness (e.g., medical 

bills/conditions, rent, unemployment, mental health etc.). While these factors are likely 

interrelated and difficult to unpack, the PIT instrument could ask respondents to simply respond 

to a set of Likert-style questions about the various factors that contributed to their state of 

homelessness (e.g., a 5-point scale where 1=Strongly Agree and 5=Strong Disagree). 

 

Relatedly, the rise of homelessness in a community often raises questions about where the 

homeless individuals come from; there can often be a public perception that most homeless are 

transients who have come from other communities. This reflects, in part, a stigma towards 

homeless that views them as “inherent outsiders” of the community, even though many if not 

most might be lifelong residents of Sacramento. Research on this issue suggests that some 



	  
	  

54 

individuals experiencing housing instability do travel as way to cope with their situation and are 

in search of opportunities (Rahimian, Wolch, and Koegel 1992), but research in metropolitan 

areas suggests that this encapsulates a small percentage (e.g., 10%-20%) of the overall homeless 

population (Parker and Dykema, 2013). As there is little data on this issue itself in Sacramento 

County, the PIT survey could ask respondents about the length in time that they have lived in 

area and how often they might move from location and location. More than just addressing the 

perception of homelessness, these questions could shed light on the different needs and 

circumstances that homeless in the community are experiencing, and the various resources they 

may have available to them in the county. Indeed, research on transient and non-transient 

homeless suggests that these groups may be facing substantially different circumstances (Gray, 

Chau, Huerta, and Frankish, 2011). 

Policy Needs 

Finally, the overall findings of the 2017 PIT point to some clear needs in the community. These reflect:  

 

ü The need for more Emergency Shelter capacity 
The sharp increase in unsheltered homeless and particularly those who have experienced longer 

periods of housing instability than the past, likely speaks to lacking service capacity issues within 

Sacramento’s emergency shelter system. Since the collection of this data both the city of 

Sacramento and county (as well as others) have made efforts to increase access to emergency 

shelter for individuals, which this reports suggest is a critical issue. On January 25th 

approximately 3,665 individuals experienced homelessness, compared to the approximate 

1,200-1,400 emergency shelter beds available that night in the county. 

 

ü The need for more Permanent Supportive Housing 
While increasing access to temporary shelter is important, survey results suggest that almost a 

third of individuals sleeping outdoor have complex mental and physical needs that complicate 

their transition into stable housing. While these individuals would benefit from a quicker 

transition to Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) programs—“housing first” programs 

designed to help individuals who are disabled and chronically homeless—the large number of 

1,126 individuals experiencing chronic homelessness in the county likely also exceeds PSH 

capacity. It is telling that two-thirds of chronically homeless report being homeless longer than 

36 months, which could reflect excessive waiting periods for PSH.  And while a large proportion 

of these individuals indicated that they had severe mental health challenges (and in particular 

PTSD), these issues are unlikely to improve in the absence of stable, permanent housing.  
 

ü The need for more Affordable Housing 
Analyses of national PIT data have found that rental housing market factors – particularly housing 

costs – are the strongest predictors of homelessness across communities (Byrne et. al 2013). In 

particular, the proportion of residents in communities who spend more than 30% of their total 

income on housing was strongly predictive of the overall homelessness rate in the region. These 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

55 

findings are telling given recent reports by the Sacramento Housing Alliance that 4 out of 10 

residents in Sacramento spend over 50% of their monthly income on housing (SHA, 2016). Given 

the recent sharp increases in rental rates in Sacramento, and the low stock of affordable housing 

units in the area, the growth of the homeless population is consistent with trends reported by 

other communities across the county with tight housing market conditions. Though addressing 

the need for affordable housing is complex and multifaceted, it is clear that more, continued, 

attention needs to be paid to this issue. Indeed, affordable housing is not a new concern, or one 

that is unknown by most homeless service providers and advocates, but findings of this report 

likely highlight a new level of severity for these issues in Sacramento County. Housing costs play 

a critical role in the prevalence of homelessness in a community. While it is important to 

highlight the high prevalence of mental health and physical needs among some homeless 

groups (such as the estimated 31% chronically homeless in the county), it is equally important to 

remember that not every person experiencing homelessness faces these challenges. Indeed the 

results of this report suggest most people experiencing homelessness do not have a severe 

mental health, physical disability or substance abuse problem, but are likely confronting a life 

crisis in the context of very few viable housing options. Moreover, all groups of homeless, 

including those with more serious challenges, would be helped by better access to affordable 

housing in our community.  

 

 

 

 

 

	    



	  
	  

56 

Works Cited 
Byrne, Thomas, Ellen A. Munley, Jamison D. Fargo, Ann E. Montgomery, and Dennis P. Culhane. 

2013."New perspectives on community‐level determinants of homelessness." Journal of Urban 

Affairs, 35 (5): 607-625. 

Hartmann, Douglas and Teresa T. Swartz. 2006. "The new adulthood? The transition to adulthood from 
the perspective of transitioning young adults." Advances in Life Course Research,11:253-286.  

Henry, Meghan, Azim Shivji, Tanya de Sousa, and Rebecca Cohen. 2015. The 2015 Annual Homeless 
Assessment Report (AHAR) to Congress. Retrieved from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development Website: https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/2015-AHAR-Part-1.pdf   

Henry, Meghan, Rian Watt, Lily Rosenthal, and Azim Shivji. 2016. The 2016 Annual Homeless 
Assessment Report (AHAR) to Congress. Retrieved from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development Website: https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/2016-AHAR-Part-1.pdf   

Sacramento Housing Alliance (SHA). 2016. Sacramento Housing Alliance Working Paper on Ending 
Homelessness. Retrieved from the SHA Website: http://www.sachousingalliance.org/wp-
content/uploads/2016/04/Sacramento-Housing-Alliance-Working-Paper-on-Ending-Homelessness-
final.pdf  

National Alliance to End Homelessness (NAEA). 2016. The State of Homelessness in America. Retrieved 
from the NAEA Website: https://www.endhomelessness.org/soh2016  

National Coalition Against Domestic Violence (NCADV).  2015.  Domestic Violence National Statistics.  
Retrieved from the NCADV Website: http://ncadv.org/images/Domestic%20Violence.pdf.  

Courtney, Mark E. 2009. The difficult transition to adulthood for foster youth in the US: Implications for 
the state as corporate parent. Society for Research in Child Development, 23(1):1-8. 

Hayward, Mark D. and Bridget K. Gorman. 2004. The long arm of childhood: The influence of early-life 
social conditions on men’s mortality. Demography, 41(1):87-107. 

Gray, Diane, Shirley Chau, Tim Huerta, and Jim Frankish. 2011. Urban-rural migration and health and 

quality of life in homeless people. Journal of Social Distress and the Homeless, 20(1-2):75-93. 

Osgood, D. W., E. M. Foster and Mark E. Courtney. 2010. "Vulnerable populations and the transition to 
adulthood." The Future of Children, 20(1): 209-229.  

Parker, David and Shana Dykema. 2013. “The reality of homeless mobility and implications for Improving 
care.” Journal of Community Health, 38(4): 685-89. 

Shanahan, Michael J. 2000. "Pathways to adulthood in changing societies: Variability and mechanisms in 
life course perspective." Annual Review of Sociology, 26(1): 667-692 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

57 

Tsai, J. and R. A. Rosenheck (2015). "Risk factors for homelessness among US Veterans." Epidemiologic 
Review 37(2): 177-195 

 

 

  



	  
	  

58 

Appendix 
HUD Data Tables 

Table 1 
Total ALL Households and Persons 

  
  

Sheltered Unsheltered 
  

Total 
  

Emergency Transitional Total 

Total Number of 
Households 

747 473 1,220 1,435 2,655 

Total Number of  
Persons 

977 636 1,613 2,052 3,665 

Number of Children 
(under age 18) 

212 151 363 7 370 

Number of Persons 
(18 to 24) 

46 78 124 118 242 

Number of Persons 
(over age 24) 

719 407 1,126 1927 3,053 

Gender 
Female 422 259 681 488 1,169 

Male 545 373 918 1,517 2,435 

Transgender 10 4 14 47 61 

Ethnicity 

Non-Hispanic/Non-Latino 812 515 1,327 1,682 3,009 

Hispanic/Latino 165 121 286 370 656 

Race 

White 414 333 747 1,070 1,817 

Black or African-
American 

402 241 643 481 1,124 

Asian 6 4 10 14 24 

American Indian or 
Alaska Native 

25 23 48 131 179 

Native Hawaiian or 
Other Pacific Islander 

12 9 21 10 31 

Multiple Races 118 26 144 346 490 

Total number of persons 323 0 323 803 1,126 

 

	  

Chronically Homeless  
 

  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

59 

 
 

Table 2 
Persons in Households with at least one Adult and one Child 

  
  

Sheltered Unsheltered 
  

Total 
  

Emergency Transitional Total 

Total Number of 
Households 

100 80 180 6 186 

Total Number of  
Persons 

330 242 572 17 589 

Number of Children 
(under age 18) 

209 151 360 7 367 

Number of Persons 
(18 to 24) 

18 22 40 0 40 

Number of Persons 
(over age 24) 

103 69 172 10 182 

Gender 

Female 
214 151 365 7 372 

Male 
116 90 206 10 216 

Transgender 
0 1 1 0 1 

Don’t Identify as male, 
female, or transgender 

0 0 0 0 0 

Ethnicity 

Non-Hispanic/Non-Latino 
259 190 449 

4 453 

Hispanic/Latino 
71 52 123 

13 136 

Race 

White 414 333 747 3 185 

Black or African-
American 

170 105 275 6 281 

Asian 1 2 3 0 3 

American Indian or 
Alaska Native 

10 8 18 0 18 

Native Hawaiian or 
Other Pacific Islander 

3 6 9 6 15 

Multiple Races 72 13 85 2 87 

 
 
 



	  
	  

60 

Table 3 
Persons in Households with only Children 

  
  

Sheltered Unsheltered 
  

Total 
  

Emergency Transitional Total 

Total Number of 
Households 

3 0 3 0 3 

Number of Children 
(under age 18) 

3 0 3 0 3 

Gender 

Female 
0 0 0 0 0 

Male 
0 0 0 0 0 

Transgender 
3 0 3 0 3 

Don’t Identify as male, 
female, or transgender 

0 0 0 0 0 

Ethnicity 

Non-Hispanic/Non-Latino 
1 0 1 

0 1 

Hispanic/Latino 
2 0 2 

0 2 

Race 

White 2 0 2 0 2 

Black or African-American 0 0 0 0 0 

Asian 0 0 0 0 0 

American Indian or Alaska 
Native 

0 0 0 0 0 

Native Hawaiian or Other 
Pacific Islander 

0 0 0 0 0 

Multiple Races 1 0 1 0 1 

	  

	   	  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

61 

Table 4 
Persons in Households without Children 

  
  

Sheltered Unsheltered 
  

Total 
  

Emergency Transitional Total 

Total Number of 
Households 

644 393 1,037 1,429 2,466 

Number of Persons (Adults) 644 394 1,038 2,035 3,073 

Number of Persons (18-24) 28 56 84 118 202 

Number of Persons (over 
age 24) 

616 338 954 1,917 2,871 

Gender 
Female 208 108 316 481 797 

Male 429 283 712 1,507 2,219 

Transgender 7 3 10 0 10 

Don’t Identify as male, 
female, or transgender 

0 0 0 47 47 

Ethnicity 
Non-Hispanic/Non-Latino 552 325 877 1,678 2,555 

Hispanic/Latino 92 69 161 357 518 

Race 
White 338 225 563 1,067 1,630 

Black or African-
American 

232 136 368 475 843 

Asian 5 2 7 14 21 

American Indian or 
Alaska Native 

15 15 30 131 161 

Native Hawaiian or 
Other Pacific Islander 

9 3 12 4 16 

Multiple Races 45 13 58 344 402 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



	  
	  

62 

Table 5 
Unaccompanied Youth Households 

  
  

Sheltered Unsheltered 
  

Total 
  

Emergency Transitional Total 

Total Number of 
Households 

31 56 0 98 185 

Number of Children 
(under age 18) 

31 56 0 118 205 

Number of Persons (18-24) 3 0 0 0 3 

Number of Persons (over 
age 24) 

28 56 0 118 202 

Gender 
Female 8 16 0 39 63 

Male 21 39 0 79 139 

Transgender 2 1 0 0 3 

Don’t Identify as male, 
female, or transgender 

0 0 0 0 0 

Ethnicity 
Non-Hispanic/Non-Latino 25 45 0 78 148 

Hispanic/Latino 6 11 0 40 57 

Race 
White 13 25 0 59 97 

Black or African-
American 

14 30 0 39 83 

Asian 0 0 0 0 0 

American Indian or 
Alaska Native 

1 1 0 0 2 

Native Hawaiian or 
Other Pacific Islander 

0 0 0 0 0 

Multiple Races 3 0 0 20 23 

	  

	  

	  

	  

	  



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

63 

Table 6 
Total Veteran Households 

  
  

Sheltered Unsheltered 
  

Total 
  

Emergency Transitional Total 

Total Number of 
Households 

64 78 142 276 418 

Total Number of Veterans 64 78 142 327 469 

Gender 
Female 2 9 11 80 91 

Male 62 69 131 238 369 

Transgender (male to 
female) 

0 0 0 9 9 

Transgender (female to 
male) 

0 0 0 0 0 

Ethnicity 
Non-Hispanic/Non-Latino 56 70 126 251 377 

Hispanic/Latino 8 8 16 76 92 

Race 
White 40 41 81 194 275 

Black or African-
American 

17 30 47 39 86 

Asian 0 1 0 10 11 

American Indian or 
Alaska Native 

1 1 0 43 45 

Native Hawaiian or 
Other Pacific Islander 

0 2 0 0 2 

Multiple Races 6 3 0 41 50 

Total number of persons 25 0 25 185 210 

  

Chronically Homeless  
 

  



	  
	  

64 

Extrapolating process 
To extrapolate the number of homelessness in areas not canvassed, CSUS generated a formula that 

calculated the difference between expected and actual count numbers within each sampled zone (i.e., 

the difference between what CSUS expected volunteers to report and what volunteers actually 

reported).  As discussed in Section 1, CSUS had used pre-mapping data (e.g., information from 

community stakeholders and law enforcement regarding possible sleeping locations for the homeless) to 

generate 145 possible sampling zones in the county.  CSUS had also used this information to calculate 

an expected number of homeless likely to be found within each zone on the night of the count (these 

expected values allowed CSUS to stratify the sampling by “cold,” “warm” and “hot” zones). 

Additionally, CSUS separated the zones into five “regions”: Downtown, East Sacramento, River, North 

Sacramento, and South Sacramento.  

As anticipated, there was significant variation in count data between the five established regions, and so 

we used this additional information to calculate five separate extrapolation formulas for each regional 

part of the county.  The general formula for extrapolating a predicated actual count for un-sampled 

zones was then simply: 

𝑌!"#$%&'#$  !"#$%& = 𝑋!"#$%&#  !"#$%&  !"## + 𝑋!"#$%&$' 

Using this formula to predict unsampled zone counts resulted in a small number of zones that were given 

scores beyond two standard deviations above the mean predicted score, while some zones indicated 

predicted values below zero. Because these results skewed the calculated standard error, some zones 

were replaced with either a value of 0 (for those zones with negative predicted value) or with the average 

predicted value for the broader region where the zone was located (for those more than two standard 

deviations from the mean). For both the sampled and unsampled zones, there was an average of 15 

zones per region – providing a reliable distribution of the spatial data (though there were no unsampled 

zones downtown, as all of these zones were automatically selected for the count). On average, the 

differences between expected and actual count numbers in the sampled zones was 7.2, with a margin of 

error of 3.9.  The following table presents the average regional breakdowns for sampled scores and 

extrapolated scores 

 

 

 

Zone Sampled Average Sampled Margin of 
Error 

Unsampled 
Average 

Unsampled 
Margin of Error 

Downtown Region 25.6 (n=14) 5.9 - - 

East Region 6.9 (n=10) 2.7 1.1 (n=20) 0.8 

North Region 16.9 (n=19) 3.2 13.2 (n=21) 0.6 

River Region 27.5 (n=8) 6.7 17.15 (n=10) 0.8 

South Region 11.1 (n=19) 2.4 7.2 (n=10) 0.9 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

65 

Enumeration Instructions 

	    

SSF Point-in-Time Homeless Count 2017
Count Form INSTRUCTIONS AND PROTOCOLS FOR VOLUNTEER TEAMS 

Team Member Names 
Please indicate your team-map number on every count form used. Also, make sure to write out the complete 
names of all the people in your team on each form. Please note: volunteer names will not appear in any published 
reports. However, we may need to contact you if we have to clarify something. 

One line per Person
Remember to count each homeless persons individually, by reporting one person per line. That is, each row in 
your form will correspond to each individual you observe. 

The exception is if you encounter a car, tent or RV that you suspect is being used for permanent habitation by a 
group, but you can not easily/accurately count the number of individuals inside. In this case you should indicate 
number unknown  in the first the column (e.g., checking off the boxes for location type and unknown ) and 

leave all other boxes unchecked in that row. If you are able to easily observe the number of people in a car, tent 
or RV, report each person separately in a different row. 

Counting Family Groups 
If you observe a family group standing, sitting, or sleeping next to each other, you will still report each person 
individually (again, ONE ROW for EACH person). But to designate these separate observations as a single 
household, please circle the two or more rows that make up the family group. Please note: a family group 
does not need to include children  a family group can be two adults.

Age Group, Gender and Race 
Please make your best guess for each person s  age grouping, gender, race and ethnicity. If you are unsure, then 
check “not sure” for the respective box.

PROTOCOLS FOR WHO TO COUNT

Do not wake up or disturb any individual being counted 
Do not wake any sleeping individuals. If you encounter people in cars, tents, or RVs do not ask them to come 
out and talk with you, unless law enforcement initiates communication. You should only announce yourself in 
these situations if people can see you approaching and/or if you think you might scare them as you approach.  
Remember that you are in their “living room” and so you want to avoid stepping right up next to their vehicle 
window or tent door. 

Count everyone that you see 
Count everyone you observe, even if you doubt they are homeless. The only exceptions to this rule are: 

ü

ü

ü

People who are clearly working ( e.g., construction or road maintenance workers)
Cars that are driving by (cars and RVs must be stationary to be counted)
People conducting ordinary business at 24-hr services (such as a gas station or grocery store). 

Tents, Vehicles (Car or RV)
If you see a tent or vehicle that appears to be permanently inhabited and you do not see people standing/sitting 

next to it or if you announce yourself and no one responds, then simply check the location type and the 
unknown  box, and move to the next row (skipping age group and gender). Clues that people may be living 

inside a vehicle include: the vehicle is on and running  the windows are partially open  the windows are fogged 
over  the vehicle is parked in a lot behind a shopping center, or in an alley. If you do see people standing or 
sitting next to the tent or vehicle, then use one row for each individual and be sure to mark age group and 
gender. 

Confidentiality - The count is confidential and anonymous.  Please do not record any identifying
information, particularly the names – or any part of a name – of the people you count, even if personal 
information is volunteered. 



	  
	  

66 

Location Age Gender Race Ethnicity 
1 □ Outside

□ Car

□ Tent

□ RV

□ unknown 

□ Under 

□ TAY -24

□ Adult 2

□ Not sure

□ Male

□ Female

□ Not sure

□ American Indian or Alaska
Native

□ Asian

□ Black or African American

□ Native Hawaiian or Other
Pacific Islander

□ White

□ Not Sure    □ Other 

□ Hispanic/ Latino

□ Non-Hispanic / Non-
Latino

□ Not sure

2 □ Under 

□ TAY -24

□ Adult 2

□ Not sure

□ Male

□ Female

□ Not sure

□ American Indian or Alaska
Native

□ Asian

□ Black or African American

□ Native Hawaiian or Other
Pacific Islander

□ White

□ Not Sure  □  Other 

 □ Under 

□ TAY -24

□ Adult 2

□ Not sure

□ Male

□ Female

□ Not sure

□ American Indian or Alaska
Native

□ Asian

□ Black or African American

□ Native Hawaiian or Other
Pacific Islander

□ White

□ Not Sure    □ Other 

□ Hispanic/ Latino

□ Non-Hispanic / Non-
Latino

□ Not sure

 □ Under 

□ TAY -24

□ Adult 2

□ Not sure

□ Male

□ Female

□ Not sure

□ American Indian or Alaska
Native

□ Asian

□ Black or African American

□ Native Hawaiian or Other
Pacific Islander

□ White

□ Not Sure    □ Other 

□ Hispanic/ Latino

□ Non-Hispanic / Non-
Latino

□ Not sure

 □ Under 

□ TAY -24

□ Adult 2

□ Not sure

□ Male

□ Female

□ Not sure

□ American Indian or Alaska
Native

□ Asian

□ Black or African American

□ Native Hawaiian or Other
Pacific Islander

□ White

□ Not Sure   □ Other 

□ Hispanic/ Latino

□ Non-Hispanic / Non-
Latino

□ Not sure

Please remember  1) One line per person 2) Circle family units after counting and ) Start a new 
sheet if there isn t enough lines for all family members  

□ Hispanic/ Latino

□ Non-Hispanic / Non-
Latino

□ Not sure

□ Outside

□ Car

□ Tent

□ RV

□ unknown 

□ Outside

□ Car

□ Tent

□ RV

□ unknown 

□ Outside

□ Car

□ Tent

□ RV

□ unknown 

□ Outside

□ Car

□ Tent

□ RV

□ unknown 

MAP/TEAM :      

Names of all Team Volunteers: 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

67 

Survey Instrument 

Interviewer: ________________     Date:______________

  Time:_____________:AM/PM

□ e ame
r trated

     an a e arrier  i   w at an a e:__________________ 

1 here ill you slee  tonight □ treet r idewa
□ e i e ar  van   tr
□ Par
□ A and ned i din
□  train tati n  air rt
□ nder rid e/ ver a
□ d  r td r en am ment

□ mer en  e ter
□ Tran iti na  in
□ M te / te
□ e r a artment
□ ai  ita  treatment

r ram

2   id nother volunteer or survey 
or er lre dy s  you these s e 
uestions out here you ill st y 

tonight

□ e   t  interview  er i t
□
□ D n t n w / e ed

t
interview

 er
i t 

D  n t read ate rie  e e t n  ne  

ll of your ns ers to these uestions ill e o letely onfidenti l  ut to e sure e re not 
intervie ing eo le ore th n on e  n I s  you for the first 2 letters of your first nd l st n e  nd the d y 
nd onth you ere orn       

       

 The first 2 letters of your first n e  

 The first 2 letters of your l st n e    

 onth  d y of your irth     

2017 SSF PIT  
Unsheltered Night Survey

Final Draft 

The ne t set of uestions s  out you nd the eo le in your household ho ill lso st y ith you in the s e 
lo tion tonight  y household  I e n the eo le ho live ith you no  or ost of the ti e  

   

      

   

 In luding yourself  ho  ny re 
there in your household th t ill lso st y 

ith you tonight

 In luding yourself ho  ny re 
dults 1  ye rs old or older

   o  ny re under 1  ye rs old

    

    

    

□ e ed

□ t
Intere t

□      □ t er   _____________________ 

I  m re t an  mem er  atta  additi na  e d 
e ti n eet  and e  t i      

e  m  name i  _____________ and I m a v nteer wit  Sa rament  Ste  rward   e are nd tin  a rve  t  
etter nder tand me e ne  in r mm nit  and im r ve r ram  I   arti i ate  I ave a ma  i t r  

r arti i ati n i  v ntar  and r re n e  wi  e e t n identia   an e t  i  an  e ti n and 
r an wer  wi  n t a e t r e i i i it  r ervi e  r e ared wit  an ne  t ide  r team  I need t  read 

ea  e ti n a  t e wa  t r   an I ave a t  min te    r time   e     i  arti i ant a ree .
I  interview end  ear   e  t e rea n e w



	  
	  

68 

	  

! 3 

 
Sensitive Questions  
Some of these next questions touch on sensitive topics (and are only for the adults in your group). 
We can skip questions you don’t feel comfortable answering, but I’m going to just list a couple 
different situations and you tell me “Yes” or “No” if any apply to you.  You can also say “Not sure” 
or “Don’t Know.” Again, this survey is confidential and your answers will not affect your eligibility 
for services or programs. But what you share may help to improve programs in our community.  
 
[Ask questions 13-29 only to adults; leave blank if member is under 18. Repeat questions 13-29 per adult.] 

 Self Person 2 Person 3 Person 4 Person 5 
13.   
Have you served in any 
branch of the US Armed 
Forces*? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□  Not Adult 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□  Not Adult 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□  Not Adult 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□  Not Adult REF 
[*Armed Forces=Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, or Coast Guard] 

[If question 13 is Yes, SKIP to question 16] 
14.   
Were you ever called 
into active duty as a 
member of the National 
Guard or as a Reservist? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

15.  
Have you ever received 
health care benefits 
from a Veterans 
Administration medical 
center? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

 
 
 
 

 Self Person 2 Person 3 Person 4 Person 5 
10.  
Is this your/their first 
time homeless? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 
 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

11.  
How many separate 
times in the past 3 
years have you/they 
lived in a shelter, on the 
streets, or in a car?  

 
□!My first time!
□!2 – 3 Times!
!□!4 Times or + !
□!Entire Time!
□!DK/Refused 

 
□!My first time!
□!2 – 3 Times!
!□!4 Times or + !
□!Entire Time!
□!DK/Refused 

 
□!My first time!
□!2 – 3 Times!
!□!4 Times or + !
□!Entire Time!
□!DK/Refused 

 
□!My first time!
□!2 – 3 Times!
!□!4 Times or + !
□!Entire Time!
□!DK/Refused 

 
□!My first time!
□!2 – 3 Times!
!□!4 Times or + !
□!Entire Time!
□!DK/Refused  

12.  
If you add up all the 
times you/they have 
been homeless in the 
last 3 years, how many 
weeks /months would 
that be?!!

 
______Weeks 
______ Months 

□ Entire Time 

□ DK/Refused 

 
______Weeks 
______ Months 

□ Entire Time 

□ DK/Refused 

 
______Weeks 
______ Months 

□ Entire Time 

□ DK/Refused 

 
______Weeks 
______ Months 

□ Entire Time 

□ DK/Refused 

 
______Weeks 
______ Months 

□ Entire Time 

□ DK/Refused 

[If respondent is in a household, return to questions 7-12 for other members, in order of oldest to youngest] 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

69 

! 4 

 
 

 Self Person 2 Person 3 Person 4 Person 5 
16.  
Did you* ever receive 
special education services 
(special ed.) while in 
school for more than 6 
months? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

[*= If asking about other members substitute “Did this person” or “Does this person”…] 
17.   
Do you* have a 
developmental disability?  

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 
[Clarifying Prompt: Like ADHD, autism, cerebral palsy, or other developmental delays?] 

18. 
Do you* have a physical 
disability? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 
19.  
Do you* drink alcohol or 
use non-medical drugs ?   

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 
[Clarifying Prompt:  Non-medical means using an illegal drug or a drug without a prescription] 

20. 
Do you* have an ongoing 
medical condition, such as 
diabetes, cancer, or heart 
disease? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

21. 
Do you* have a 
psychiatric or emotional 
condition such as major 
depression or 
schizophrenia? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

22. 
Do you* have a traumatic 
injury to the brain? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 
23. 
Do you* have Post-
Traumatic Stress Disorder 
or PTSD? 
 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

24.   
Do you feel any of the 
situations we just 
discussed keep you from 
holding a job or living in 
stable housing? 
 
 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

[If question 24 is No, SKIP question 25 and go to question 26] 



	  
	  

70 

	  

 

! 5 

 

 
Those are all the questions I have for you. We realize that some of the topics covered are personal 
and can be difficult to think and talk about. We appreciate your willingness to participate tonight.    

Thank you for taking the survey! 

 Self Person 2 Person 3 Person 4 Person 5 
 

25. 
Which ones keep you 
from holding a job or 
living in stable housing? 
 
[Mark all the general 
conditions that apply] 

□ Alcohol/drug 
use  
 

□ Psychiatric/ 
emotional 
condition 
  

□ Medical 
condition 
 

□ Physical 
disability 
 

□ Develop. 
disability  

 

□ Alcohol/drug 
use  
 

□ Psychiatric/ 
emotional 
condition 
  

□ Medical 
condition 
 

□ Physical 
disability 
 

□ Develop. 
disability  

 

□ Alcohol/drug 
use  
 

□ Psychiatric/ 
emotional 
condition 
  

□ Medical 
condition 
 

□ Physical 
disability 
 

□ Develop. 
disability  

 

□ Alcohol/drug 
use  
 

□ Psychiatric/ 
emotional 
condition 
  

□ Medical 
condition 
 

□ Physical 
disability 
 

□ Develop. 
disability  

 

□ Alcohol/drug 
use  
 

□ Psychiatric/ 
emotional 
condition 
  

□ Medical 
condition 
 

□ Physical 
disability 
 

□ Develop. 
disability  

 
We’re almost done; just have a few questions left for you. 

26. 
Do you* receive any 
disability benefits such as 
SSI, SSDI, or Veteran’s 
Disability?  

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

27.  
Do you* have AIDS or an 
HIV-related illness? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 
28. 
Did you leave your last 
place because a partner 
or someone else in the 
family was hurting or 
threatening to hurt you 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

29. 
Before age 18, were you 
ever placed in a foster 
home or a group home? 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□ DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

□ Yes 

□ No 

□  DK/REF 

[Repeat questions 13-27 for each adult-member of the household] 



Sacramento Point-In-Time  July, 2017 

	  
	  

71 

Student Contributors 
We greatly appreciate the work of our 28 student contributors from Social Work, Sociology and Criminal 

Justice, who made this project possible.  

o Social Work: 
o Holly Pierce 
o Danielle Perkins 
o Devin Cheng 
o Gayane Stepahyan 
o Lia Ek 
o Vanessa Mendez 
o Maria Perez 
o Tai Duong 
o Jazmin Orozco 
o Kalynn Cornet 
o Anne Brackney 
o Meg Taylor 
o Daniel Lizardo 
o Franco Cruz 
o Destiny Rogers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

	  

 

 

 

 

 

	  

o Sociology: 
o Matthew Jara  
o Pao Lor 
o Cheryl Hogue 
o Danielle Walker 
o Catherine Lipchk 
o Elisabeth Ferguson 
o Miguel Lizarde 
o Luis Martinez 
o Adriana Silva 
o Duran Ahtziri 
o Edgar Cruz 

o Criminal Justice: 
o Anabel Chavez 
o Ysabel Garcia 

	  



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Homeless Point-in-Time Count
Interviewer Training



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Road map
① Count Background

② On the night of deployment…Team Lead Responsibilities 

③ Getting to know the Survey Instrument

④ Demonstration of survey

⑤ Let’s Practice!



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Sacramento Steps Forward is a non-profit 501(c)(3) 
organization that’s working to end homelessness in our region 

through collaboration, innovation, and 
connection to services. 



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

A BIG THANK YOU !

 1,000+ community members responded to the call!

 And, please be patient & flexible
 1,000 volunteers!
 Multiple deployment sites/times/teams 
 New technology 

Before we get started…



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

What 
is the Point-in-Time Count

 A census of 

individuals/households 

experiencing HUD defined 

homelessness within the county 

during a 24-hour period.

 Sheltered & Unsheltered

 Conducted during last 10 days of 

January nation-wide



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

“…nighttime residence not designed for or ordinarily 

used as a regular sleeping accommodation for 

human beings, including a car, park, abandoned 

building, bus or train station, airport, or camping 

ground.” 

(24 CFR 578.3) 



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

How
is the count conducted?

Volunteer teams deploy to 

designated geographic locations to 

count people and conduct surveys. 



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

General methodology 

1. Volunteer teams (4+) sent to pre-identified areas

2. Walk 2-3 mile route

3. Conduct visual count of individuals/”households”/tents/cars

4. Conduct interviews with individuals who are accessible 
approachable  

Below is the suggested observation route for South Sacramento 1, but please use your best judgment to make sure that all of the 

area is assessed during the time 3-hour time period. After counting individuals in a particular sub-area, initiate the survey protocol 

with all individuals who are awake and willing to participate.  

 

Suggested Route Through Zone 

 

!Park in the northeast corner of the Walmart 

parking lot in the Florin Towne Centre.  Scan the 

front of the Wal-Mart building, and then walk 

behind the store.  

!From the back of Wal-Mart head East toward 

Stockton Blvd. and scan the area behind the Dollar 

Tree. 

! Cross the intersection of Stockton Bld. and 65th 

Street, and walk the Northern parameter of the 

restaurant-retail parking lot.  Walk around the back 

of the restaurants and retail buildings, then head to 

the front of these restaurants and stores (e.g. Cool 

Tea Bar, The Boiling Crab, etc.). 

! Cross the intersection of Skyway and 65th Street, 

back to the Wal-Mart parking lot.  Walk the West-

South parameter of the Towne Center parking lot, 

snaking around 65th Street. Make sure to scan bus-

stops on both sides of 65th Street for individuals 

who may be using these locations for shelter. 

! Once you have reached Florin Rd., take a left and continue East toward Stockton Blvd.  Check the area behind Sizzlers, and continue walking 

East. 



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

On the night of the count…

 Go to the deployment center at scheduled time/date 

 Get in line for Interviewers (check-in forms etc.)

 Get assigned a zone (pick up packet)

 Meet-up with your team (2-3 count volunteers)

 Drive to location

 Canvas Area: Count/Interview for 2-3 hours

 Return to deployment location



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

A few minutes on Safety

 Precautions we have taken

 Your Role ?

 Emergencies

 Not your role

1. approachable  



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Team Lead Responsibilities

 Get assigned a zone (pick up packet)

 Identify your team

 Assign roles

Who is the counter, verifier, driver, walk navigator?

 Initiate Interview

 Ensure upload of data

Additional points:

 Verify survey app is updated
 Assign counter id 



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Getting to know 
the Survey 
Instrument

 Purpose: survey vs. the count

 Privacy is important, so is 

confidentiality 

 HUD-required questions



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Identifying who to survey

First allow counter to count everyone first in the area

General rule:

Count everyone UNLESS they are obviously Not Homeless

• Do not count..

• People working/going to work

Construction workers, bus driver on     

smoking break

• People buying/selling things

Going out to eat/bar

Selling things 

•

Nonetheless there is a broad spectrum of 

folks experiencing homeless



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Identifying who to survey

Allow counter to count first

 Interview as many people as possible

Who are awake

Who are willing to participate

Don’t try to translate

Don’t wake anyone up or knock on 

car doors/tents



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Incentives

Give incentive at end of survey or after prompt has been 

read

Make sure to fill out first page even if decline to 

participate



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Getting to know the Survey Instrument: 5 Parts

1. Screener/ID (1-2 mins)

HUD-defined homeless?

De-duplication ID

2. Demographics (1 min)

Groups 

3. Time homeless (1 min)

Forms of homelessness

4. Sensitive Questions (2mins)

Chronic conditions/disabled

5. Wrapping up (1min)



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Getting to know the Survey Instrument: 5 Parts

• Youth supplemental questions

• Different types of questions

• Read response vs. not

• Other (try to avoid)

• Cards/Non-Verbal



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Screener/ID questions

Interviewer ID

Your zone

Read intro script

Enter “yes” or “no” (do not just exit out of survey)



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Screener/ID questions

ASK: How many are in the group?

ASK: How old are you (and others)?



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Screener/ID questions

ASK: Has any other volunteer asked you these questions?

If “Yes” will end survey

Make sure to select “NO” as default



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Demographic Questions

This section of the survey will loop for each 
member of group

E.g., If a couple: first person answers then survey 
loops back for the 2nd



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Demographic Questions

Following HUD guidelines to ask about ethnicity vs. race:

ASK: What is your Race?

• Read the possible responses

• Allow folks to enter multiple races



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Demographic Questions

Questions about gender and sexual orientation

Show card



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Time homeless questions

Questions about whether this is their first time homeless, length of 

homelessness

Can answer in days, weeks, months or years

More precise is best, e.g.:

Interviewer: “I’ve been homeless this time for about a month and a half”

Interviewer: “OK, would it be fair to say that’s about 6 weeks?”



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Sensitive health questions

Flip the card over to “Yes, No, Don’t know” options

Purpose of this section

Questions about…

• disabilities/health conditions

• whether these disabilities/health conditions keep them from stable housing

• veteran status



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Demo. 
Show rather than Tell



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Soon, it is your turn

Stretch legs -> Pick up your Application ID & password

Return to your seats & download this app to your phone



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Sign in & Practice

Raise your hand, if questions or difficulty

Pick a partner. 

Each of you sign onto your app.

Practice using the app, by each conferring to answer for a fictitious respondent



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Getting Ready for Count

Practice…

Questions: contact - jessica.newham@csus.edu

Watch practice Video (watch for email)

mailto:jessica.newham@csus.edu


Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Practical details

Dress warm, and weather-appropriate.

Bring a flashlight

Charge your phone (bring a back-up charger)

Eat before beginning, bring a granola bar or piece of fruit



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Our Team

Division of Social Work

Arturo Baiocchi, MA PhD

Susanna Curry, MSW PhD

Ethan Evans, MSW PhD

Sampling Consultant

Justin Morris, MA

Public Health Survey 
Research

Sacramento Steps Forward

Michele Watts

Nick Lee, MBA

Ben Avey

Chris Weare, PhD

Lindsey Moss

Matt Lee

Tina Wilton

Peter Hoy

Institute for Social Research

Shannon Williams, PhD

Valory Messier, MA 

Jessica Newhman

Graduate Student 
Researchers

Nathan Garst

Alicia Hatfield

Fleur Marfori



Copyright 2019 Sacramento Steps ForwardCopyright 2019 Sacramento Steps Forward

Questions?



 

 

 

Frequently Asked Questions 

2019 Homeless Point-in-Time Count 

 

 

When is the event?  

The 2019 Point in Time (PIT) count will be held on the nights of Wednesday, January 30, and 

Thursday, January 31, 2019 

 

Why is this event so important?  

The biennial Point-In-Time (PIT) count is a county-wide special census which provides a 

snapshot of who is experiencing homelessness on any given night. The data gathered helps 

shape policy and programs designed to assist some of our most vulnerable residents. 

Sacramento Steps Forward is partnering with Sacramento State’s Division of Social Work and 

the Institute for Social Research as our research partner on this crucial project. 

 

Who will be participating?  

Training is provided and required for the hundreds of volunteers, many from colleges and 

universities, churches and houses of worship, government agencies, civic-minded organizations, 

and companies, all with a common passion for helping the homeless. 

 

Is there training?  

Volunteers are all required to attend and participate in one of the training sessions, typically 

held the week before the count occurs. We anticipate hosting training sessions right on 

campus. The training covers safety, map-reading, accurate counting, and gathering 

characteristics, to provide us with the best quality data. 

 

Are there any age requirements?  



 

 

 

 

You must be 18 years old by the night of the first count January 30, 2019, to go out and canvass 

the streets. We have other volunteer tasks for eager younger volunteers. 

 

Can my entire family volunteer as a group?  

We will do our best to accommodate groups, but we need to fill specific roles on each team. 

Each group is typically four (4) people: One person drives the others to a pre-defined location. 

Each team has a designated Team Leader, with special training and typically experience with 

working directly with the homeless. The others help perform an accurate count.  

 

  



 

 

 

 

Where are we counting homeless people?  

Working with our outreach teams and other partners, we are mapping locations across 

Sacramento County where people experiencing homeless are living. It is anticipated that the 

highest concentration of teams will be deployed within the City of Sacramento. 

 

What is the time commitment?  

One evening for your orientation and training (90 minutes) and a second evening for the actual 

count. On the night of the count, you will meet your team, get your maps and head out 

between 5:30 - 6:30 p.m. and canvass until 10 p.m. NOTE: We may have a second night of 

canvassing for interested volunteers. 

 

This sounds great! How do I get involved?  

Simply take a moment to fill out the CSUS specific PIT 2019 registration form and you will 

receive logistical details and timing for training and the night of counting.   

 

If you would like to invite friends who are not affiliated with CSUS, please have them use the 

general  online registration form  

 

When will the results of the PIT Count become available?  

Following the PIT Count, SSF anticipates releasing the finalized report by early summer 2019.  

 

Who is Sacramento Steps Forward?  

Sacramento Steps Forward is a nonprofit organization committed to ending homelessness in 

our region through collaboration, innovation, and connecting people to services. Walking side-

by-side with our partners, we seek to provide people experiencing homelessness with the 

support and services they need to find stability and long term housing. Since 2011, Sacramento 

Steps Forward has been the Administrative Entity for the Sacramento Continuum of Care and 

has run the biennial Homeless Point-in-Time count. More information at 

www.SacramentoStepsForward.org.  

 

 

https://app.calstates4.com/csus/csus-homeless-count-2019-registration-form
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/WLV8VVT
http://www.sacramentostepsforward.org/


36.41% 67

36.96% 68

20.65% 38

25.00% 46

9.24% 17

Q1 I volunteered on the following dates and locations:
Answered: 184 Skipped: 3

Total Respondents: 184  

Wednesday,
1/30 at DHA...

Wednesday,
1/30 at CSUS...

Thursday, 1/31
at DHA (1725...

Thursday, 1/31
at CSUS (304...

I was not able
to volunteer

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Wednesday, 1/30 at DHA (1725 28th Street)

Wednesday, 1/30 at CSUS (304 S Street)

Thursday, 1/31 at DHA (1725 28th Street)

Thursday, 1/31 at CSUS (304 S Street)

I was not able to volunteer

1 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



44.44% 72

40.12% 65

4.32% 7

8.64% 14

2.47% 4

Q2 It was clearly communicated where and when to volunteer for the
event.

Answered: 162 Skipped: 25

TOTAL 162

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

2 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



21.88% 35

48.13% 77

16.88% 27

10.63% 17

2.50% 4

Q3 The training I received prepared me well for the PIT Count.
Answered: 160 Skipped: 27

TOTAL 160

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

3 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



15.43% 25

50.62% 82

19.14% 31

11.73% 19

3.09% 5

Q4 The pre-PIT Count communications I received were helpful.
Answered: 162 Skipped: 25

TOTAL 162

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

4 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



87.65% 142

6.79% 11

30.86% 50

8.02% 13

3.09% 5

Q5 The best way(s) for future PIT Counts to communicate with me would
be through:

Answered: 162 Skipped: 25

Total Respondents: 162  

Email

Phone

Text

Social Media

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Email

Phone

Text

Social Media

Other (please specify)

5 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



40.37% 65

44.72% 72

11.80% 19

1.86% 3

1.24% 2

Q6 The staff and volunteers at the deployment site were helpful.
Answered: 161 Skipped: 26

TOTAL 161

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

6 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



22.98% 37

41.61% 67

17.39% 28

15.53% 25

2.48% 4

Q7 The deployment site was well-organized.
Answered: 161 Skipped: 26

TOTAL 161

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

7 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



21.12% 34

40.37% 65

11.18% 18

12.42% 20

1.86% 3

13.04% 21

Q8 The map and other packet materials provided were helpful and easy
to understand. 
Answered: 161 Skipped: 26

TOTAL 161

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Other (please specify)

8 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



33.54% 54

42.24% 68

24.22% 39

Q9 What role did you have in the PIT Count
Answered: 161 Skipped: 26

TOTAL 161

Surveyer /
Team Lead

Counter

Neither

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Surveyer /  Team Lead

Counter

Neither

9 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



Q10 If you registered for the PIT Count but were unable to volunteer,
please tell us what prevented you from participating?

Answered: 15 Skipped: 172

10 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



47.17% 25

41.51% 22

7.55% 4

1.89% 1

1.89% 1

Q11 As a Team Lead (Interviewer), the smartphone app was easy to use.
Answered: 53 Skipped: 134

TOTAL 53

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

11 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



22.06% 15

48.53% 33

25.00% 17

4.41% 3

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q12 As a Counter, the smartphone app was easy to use.
Answered: 68 Skipped: 119

TOTAL 68

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

I was not a
Counter...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

I was not a Counter Volunteer

12 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



67.32% 103

22.88% 35

9.80% 15

Q13 I met people experiencing homelessness in the mapped area
my team was assigned. 

Answered: 153 Skipped: 34

TOTAL 153

Yes

No

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Other

13 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



Q14 What other comments, recommendations, etc do you have for us to
take into consideration while we prepare for the 2021 Point-in-Time

Count? 
Answered: 109 Skipped: 78

14 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



95.14% 137

4.86% 7

Q15 I would volunteer for the PIT Count again.
Answered: 144 Skipped: 43

TOTAL 144

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

15 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



Q16 I volunteered for the PIT Count because:
Answered: 134 Skipped: 53

16 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



Q17 The thing I liked leaset about my experience was:
Answered: 129 Skipped: 58

17 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



Q18 The thing I liked most about my experience was:
Answered: 132 Skipped: 55

18 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey



64.67% 97

28.00% 42

7.33% 11

Q19 I have a better understanding of homelessness now than I did before
I participated in the 2019 Point-in-Time Count.

Answered: 150 Skipped: 37

TOTAL 150

Yes

No

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Other

19 / 19

2019 Point-in-Time Count Volunteer Survey


	1 PIT Committee Agenda 4-22-19
	2 PIT Committee Minutes 3-25-19
	3 2019 PIT Comm WP v3 for approval 4-22-19 (1)
	4 PIT Report Input for CSUS ISR memo 4-22-19
	5 2017 Sacramento Homeless PIT Count Report 7-10-17
	6 PITtraining_1-17-18
	7 PIT19 FAQ v2.3 CSUS
	8 PIT2019 Summary Data

